CONTENTS

ANNEX A: INTERVENTION OVERVIEWS	72
Introduction to intervention overviews	72
Introduction to tables summarising key outcomes	72
Introduction to findings on intervention-level outcomes	72
Annex A(1): Bougainville Community Policing Project	73
Annex A (2): Cook Islands Police Programme	77
Annex A(3): Solomon Islands - RAMSI	80
Annex A(4): Tonga	85
Annex A(5): Pacific Islands Chiefs of Police	89
Annex A(6): Pacific Prevention of Domestic Violence Programme	92
Annex A(7): Partnership for Pacific Policing	95
ANNEX B – EVALUATION QUESTIONS AND TERMS OF REFERENCE	97
ANNEX C – CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR POLICING	122
Assumptions linking programme outcomes to goal	129
ANNEX D - LIST OF DATA SOURCES	131
People consulted	131
Bibliography	134
ANNEX E – PROCESSES AND METHODS FOR IMPLEMENTING THE EVALUATION	143
ANNEX F –FINDINGS IN RESPONSE TO EVALUATION QUESTIONS	147
ANNEX G – INTERVENTION LEVEL RESULTS	153
ANNEX H – PROGRAMME LEVEL RESULTS MEASURMENT TABLE	157
ANNEX L. GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS	16/

ANNEX A: INTERVENTION OVERVIEWS

Introduction to intervention overviews

Each intervention overview contains:

- Brief description of the intervention including chart showing key events, and a summary of intervention expenditure
- A table summarising key intervention outcomes
- Overview of the policing context (country-level interventions)
- Findings on intervention-level outcomes
- Evaluation conclusions

Introduction to tables summarising key outcomes

Results diagrams were constructed by the team for the purposes of the evaluation. These aimed to capture the 'true' intention and scope of each intervention design (as far could be ascertained) whilst retaining a degree of correspondence with the reporting formats used during the implementation period. The diagrams were discussed with and validated by MFAT Aid Programme staff in Wellington and at post.

While the diagrams are not reproduced in this annex, key intervention outcomes are summarised in each intervention overview.

Introduction to findings on intervention-level outcomes

Tables are used to provide a summary of intended results and actual achievements for each intervention. They are structured around the findings on intervention-level outcomes which highlight the medium and long term outcomes feeding into each other to achieve the overarching goal.

Annex A(1): Bougainville Community Policing Project

Intervention description

The Bougainville Community Policing Project (BCPP) aims to strengthen the Bougainville Police Service (BPS) and mainstream community policing within its operations, including through the community auxiliary police (CAP). CAP are a group of about 350 part-time police, drawn from and selected by the community in which they serve, operating in collaboration with village leaders and courts, and paid a modest allowance. CAP were formed following the 1997 declaration of peace in Bougainville, when the Autonomous Bougainville Government (ABG) identified community policing as an important mechanism for achieving stability in the region. The BCPP was established in 1998 to support the implementation of the CAP. Phase four of BCPP focused on supporting the BPS in community policing and the integration of CAP into the BPS.

The New Zealand Aid Programme currently funds one long term adviser, supplemented by short term advisers.

BCCP phase 4: key events

	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014
Intervention events: preparat	tion, des	ign and r	eview								
One off course for CAPs											
(1998)											
Phase 1 (2000-2001)											
Phase 2 (2001-2002)											1
Phase 3 (2004-2007)				$\hat{\parallel}$							1
Phase 3 review			Δ	•							
Phase 4							Î				
Phase 4 review							Δ				
Phase 4 extended (Phase											
4B)											
Implementation events											
Bougainville Agreement											
(2001)											
Bougainville Constitution											
(creating BPS)											1
First elections											
ABG Strategic Action Plan		A									
(2006-10)											
Law and Justice Sector review				Δ							
Law and Justice Sector prog.											
(LJSP)											
Second elections											
BPS Strategic Plan (2010-											\Rightarrow
2014)											

BCCP: expenditure summary – (funded from MFAT)

2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	Total (2005/2012)
1,692	1,502	1,249	2,069	2,570	1,953	2, 301	2,008	15,346

Notes: (1) The above figures refer to ODA expenditure for work implemented by the NZP. The figures do not include NZP expenditure from other sources nor ODA paid to other vendors (estimated at about 3-4% of the total ODA spent on police reform).

(2) Approximately 57% of ODA expenditure funded personnel salaries.

Currency: NZ\$ 000's Source: MFAT data

Intended intervention outcomes

Overarching Goal: BPS operates as an effective community policing agency and integrates and supports a strong and sustainable CAP Programme								
Long Term Outcome								
Medium term Outcomes	CAPs provide effective community police	CAPs are effectively managed by BPS	Active application of community policing philosophy by BPS regulars					

Overview of the policing context

Police mandate: The BPS reports to the Autonomous Bougainville Government. However, because the BPS is formally part of the Royal Papua New Guinea (PNG) Constabulary, and because the government of PNG provides the budget to BPS it follows that the principal political control lies in Port Moresby with the government of PNG (GoPNG). BPS reform, including the full integration of CAP into it, will require both funding and political will. The degree of Royal PNG Constabulary commitment to BPS or to CAP is unclear.

The ABG seeks to prioritise the police (although constrained by limited funds and restricted autonomy). A key issue for policing is the mandate and role of the police in addressing land conflicts between communities and companies who obtain extractive licences for minerals from the government.

Police technical capacity: The BPS has low capacity; a follow up to the 2009 crime survey in Bougainville unfortunately shows a decline in community perceptions of police in relation to police performance and discipline. There are no reliable statistics on actual crime rates, due to poor BPS management information systems. There is a general belief that most crimes go un-reported¹. Plans are in place within the justice sector, wider government (Constitution and organic law) and BPS for reform (including the draft BPS Community Policing Strategy). But limited funding, unclear leadership, and the constraints flowing from operating under the auspices of the Royal PNG Constabulary are key challenges to moving forward.

¹ Bougainville Police Re-structure Project. Draft final report. 9 July 2010

Police relationship with communities: As stated above, public confidence in the BPS is low. Nearly 80% of people in Bougainville reside in remote villages and most of these people have no or very few interactions with BPS. The presence of CAP in local village communities provides a visible policing presence.

Police relationship with the formal justice system: Problems with poor investigations and case management and a backlog of cases remain a cause for concern. Officials in the ABG noted that the decision of GoPNG to appoint a resident Bougainville judge may be compromised if funding is not allocated for housing of the judge and his associate.

Police relationship with non-state dispute resolution systems: CAP interact very closely with informal systems aimed at mediation, reconciliation and settlement of disputes and grievances in villages. There is some need for role clarity to overcome confusion about the boundaries between the constabulary duties of CAP, the traditional function of village mediators and the role of unsworn peace officers who provide court orderly services for village courts.

Findings on intervention-level outcomes

Findings against outcomes are as follows:

Summary key intended results	Intended final delivery date	Key evidence
Effective policing services provided across all of Bougainville by BPS and CAPs [Long term outcome]	2010	CAP appear to be providing an effective service at village level, but their effectiveness is constrained by low BPS capacity
CAPs provide effective community police [Medium term outcome] CAPs are effectively managed by BPS [Medium term outcome] Active application of community policing		 Mid Term Review BCCP July 2006 Review of Bougainville Community Police Project 14 December 2009 2009 crime survey (reported in draft report of Police Restructure Project. 9 July 2010)
philosophy by BPS regulars [Medium term outcome]		 Draft BPS Community Policing Strategy 2011- 15 Interview evidence and observations gathered during evaluation fieldwork

Evaluation conclusions

It is clear from the table above that while outcomes relating to CAP have been met, there has been very limited progress in terms of the overall performance of the BPS and integrating CAP into the mainstream police. Issues with BPS leadership, discipline, and accountability would make such integration very challenging. In the meantime, CAP are in effect operating as a 'parallel structure' and are highly dependent on New Zealand technical and logistical support.

The evaluation team found widespread anecdotal evidence of community satisfaction with the CAP, which were described as being a highly motivated, locally representative groups of people with a strong local mandate to act on behalf of local people. The work ethic, integrity and quality of judgement, along with CAP's 'moral authority' was noted by some observers as being in strong contrast to the BPS, which was seen as failing to meet community expectations. So, while the BPS is not seen as providing effective community policing services (both in terms of the quantity and

quality of its performance, and because its activities are largely restricted to around Buka), the CAP are seen as being highly effective in meeting policing needs in the villages. The effectiveness of the CAP was evident in a number of dimensions. They were seen as being a 'bridge' between formal and informal justice systems and, anecdotally, there has been some success in tackling violence against women through more referrals to the criminal justice system. Statistics collected by New Zealand Police suggest that crimes reported to the CAP (an average of 645 per month) far out-number those reported to the BPS (an average of 107 per month). More cases affecting women and children are reported to the CAP than to the regular police (nearly 80% of CAP cases fall into this category, compared with just over 20% of the BPS). 20% of CAP are female, compared to 11% of the full-time BPS.

New Zealand Police have provided a wide range of technical assistance to the BPS by means of topic experts who have provided training, advice and mentoring to BPS personnel. MFAT Wellington informed the evaluation team that in 2010 a crime statistics gathering systems was developed, but this was not evident to the evaluation team. It was noted that New Zealand Police were in some cases counterparting and mentoring officers of a more senior rank than themselves. Technical assistance provided appeared to be appreciated, but the evaluation team found no evidence that BPS had converted the training and planning into a concept of operations that provides clear direction for the BPS³ (despite the existence of a number of strategies and planning documents the draft Community Policing Strategy developed by NZP, a BPS Midterm Development Strategy (Strategic Plan) 2010 – 2014, and a draft BPS restructuring plan). BPS has developed a restructuring plan with the ABG aimed at expanding and strengthening police operations, transport, communication and infrastructure. Implementation is subject to funding and there is an expectation that ABG will secure authority to prioritise the BPS reform using the K100 million (US\$47.2 million) allocated to it by the GoPNG in 2012.

The approach taken by the NZP contingent commander to increase the proportion of women, to ensure distribution of CAP is proportionate to population and to place a high level of importance on performance and personal responsibility will benefit BPS if CAP personnel present as applicants for fulltime positions in BPS. Applicants equipped with the skills acquired in CAP will be compelling and if suitable numbers are accepted, this could act as a catalyst for change – a critical mass of motivated individuals may assist the change programme within BPS, provided that they are prepared to leave their villages, that a concept of operations is in place and that leadership in the BPS is capable and willing to use their talents to effect positive change.

² Statistics provided by New Zealand Police for three months of April, July and August 2010

³ Concept of Operations documents outline goals and objectives, strategies, tactics, policies, and constraints, activities, and interactions among participants and stakeholders, clear statements of responsibilities and authorities delegated, specific operational processes for initiating, developing, maintaining, and reviewing the operations as a system.

Annex A (2): Cook Islands Police Programme

Intervention description

Following a perceived crisis of loss of public confidence in the Cook Islands National Police Department (CINPD) and a major review undertaken for the Government in 2006 led by a former senior New Zealand Police officer (the Robinson Review), New Zealand began a programme of assistance to implement the 116 recommendations of the Review. Funding was provided for one full-time seconded New Zealand police officer for the first two years. In addition, around 12 New Zealand Police advisors delivered training / technical assistance on a short term basis each year. Key elements of the support include: a leadership development programme, installation of a radio communications network, support for outreach to youth, and opportunities for police officers to receive appropriate training in New Zealand.

Cook Islands Police Programme: key events

	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
Intervention events: preparation, design and review								
Concerns raised by CI Budget Committee	Δ							
Request for assistance	Δ							
Interim report on Financial Management								
Robinson report								
Implementation events								
CINPD appoint NZ Commissioner					\Rightarrow			
Programme of Assistance to CINPD								\Rightarrow

Cook Islands Police Programme: expenditure summary - (funded from MFAT)

2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	Total (2005/2012)
n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	159	375	258	259	1,051

Notes: (1) The above figures refer to ODA expenditure for work implemented by the NZP. The figures do not include NZP expenditure from other sources nor ODA paid to other vendors (estimated at about 3-4% of the total ODA spent on police reform).

(2) Approximately 36% of ODA expenditure funded personnel salaries.

Currency: NZ\$ 000's Source: MFAT data

Intended intervention outcomes

Overarching Goal: Cook Islands safer and more secure										
Long Term Outcomes	Effective and capa	Effective and capable police force								
Medium term Outcomes	Improved management, professionalism and skills in CINPD	Increased scope of activities	Effective engagement between CINPD and communities	Mandate for police improved	administration of justice					

Overview of the policing context

Police mandate: The Robinson Review, and the public dissatisfaction and loss of confidence in the Cook Islands Police that prompted it, were blamed by key stakeholders largely on the politicisation of the Police, and on the political nature of the appointment of the post of Commissioner in particular. Reform would require amendment to the current out-of-date Police Act. Discussions with the Ministry of Finance suggested that the Police are not perceived as a priority for resource allocation, particularly in view of high police numbers.

Police technical capacity: There was unanimous agreement amongst all stakeholders interviewed that Police performance, and public confidence in the Police have improved dramatically since the 2006 Review. The Cook Islands Police Service Strategic Plan 2010-2015 sets out a strong path to reform. The Commissioner and other officers demonstrated a strong commitment to community policing. Factors constraining further improvements were identified as including the need for more fundamental re-structuring, and limited resources for vehicles and equipment.

Police relationship with communities: Police/community relations appear to be strong, particularly on the Outer Islands. The Cook Islands police service was clear that formal community policing structures to enhance police / community relations are not appropriate in this small islands state setting. The police are taking forward various initiatives to enhance their interactions with communities in Avarua including Blue Light Clubs and Neighbourhood Watch schemes. The Pacific Prevention of Domestic Violence Programme is also working to promote stronger ties between the Police and local organisations that address violence against women.

Police relationship with the formal justice system: Constraints were noted around investigative and prosecution skills (which New Zealand aid is addressing through training). Criminal procedures are outdated and have been identified for review under the Cook Islands Police Programme, although no progress appears to have been made.

Police relationship with non-state dispute resolution systems: Stakeholders reported a complementarity between formal and informal (including traditional) systems. Traditional systems of justice tend to be stronger on the Outer Islands (for example in Pukapuka minor offenders are dealt with through 'social shunning' and treating them as juveniles

Findings on intervention-level outcomes

Findings against outcomes are as follows:

Summary key intended results	Intended final delivery date	Key evidence
Effective and capable police force [Long term outcome] Efficient and effective administration of justice [Long term outcome] Improved management, professionalism and skills in CIPS [Medium term outcome] Increased scope of activities [Medium term outcome] Effective engagement between CIPS and communities [Medium term outcome] Mandate for CIPS improved [Medium term outcome]	2012	Anecdotal evidence for improved CIPS performance. Empirical evidence eg perception surveys not available Interim Report: Progress Against Revised Robinson Review Recommendations. Julia Jones, Performance Group, PNHQ. March 2011 Interviews evidence and observations gathered during evaluation fieldwork

Evaluation conclusions

The Interim Report on Progress against the Robinson Review Recommendations (Julia Jones, March 2011) concluded that of the 38 current revised recommendations, overall progress is fairly evenly split between *good progress made – need to maintain momentum, early days – requires further attention,* or *limited or no progress to date.* The evaluation team considers that in any re-design of the programme, stronger cognizance should be taken of the wider policing context discussed above if sustainable reform is to be achieved. Key issues are: the need to progress the reform of the Police Act, including undertaking widespread and participatory consultations on it; and the need to address underlying systemic issues that are constraining performance including the size, pay, and structure of the Police, requiring engagement at the political and policy level.

Annex A(3): Solomon Islands - RAMSI

Intervention description

New Zealand's assistance to policing in the Solomon Islands is delivered through the Regional Assistance Mission to the Solomon Islands (RAMSI), which responded to a crisis that threatened the peace and security of the Solomon Islands in particular, but also posed a destabilising threat to the Pacific region. Policing assistance and capacity development for the Royal Solomon Islands Police Force (RSIPF) is provided through the RAMSI Participating Police Force (PPF).

New Zealand Police play a full role in the PPF (with up to 25 staff serving mainly on six-month deployments) and supports RAMSI at the executive level through the appointment of a MFAT senior civil servant as the mission's Deputy Special Co-ordinator. The New Zealand Police advisers are totally embedded in the PPF so it is difficult to single out their particular contribution. The PPF leadership are of the view that, with personnel participating from nine regional nations, all interventions have to follow RAMSI/PPF strategy and policy.

New Zealand Police support to RAMSI: key events

	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017
Implementation events											
RAMSI established											
(July 2003)											
RAMSI current support								\Rightarrow			
phase								,			
Partnership agreement			Δ								,
RAMSI Next Phase											
NZ commitment							\Rightarrow				

New Zealand Police support to RAMSI: expenditure summary – (funded from MFAT)

2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	Total (2005/2012)
n/a	n/a	n/a	3,916	5,302	5,080	3,562	5,076	22,936

Notes: (1) The above figures refer to ODA expenditure for work implemented by the NZP. The figures do not include NZP expenditure from other sources nor ODA paid to other vendors (estimated at about 3-4% of the total ODA spent on police reform).

(2) Approximately 81% of ODA expenditure funded personnel salaries.

Currency: NZ\$ 000's Source: MFAT data

Intended intervention outcomes

Long Term Outcomes	Civil order, rule of law and safe communities						
	Community has confidence and trust in the RSIPF						
Medium term Outcomes	Political mandate for police RISFP is a capable, efficient,						
	secured	self-reliant and self-sustaining					
		police force with new services					
		and approaches in use					
		(including collaborative crime					
		prevention, community safety					
		and security initiatives					

Overview of the policing context

Police mandate: The creation of RAMSI came about in April 2003, following an urgent request for assistance from the Prime Minister of Solomon Islands. After some five years of ethnic tensions, including a *coup d'état* in 2000, the problems facing the people of the Solomon Islands were serious and complex. Law and order had broken down, officials and private citizens were subject to intimidation and violence, and corruption was unfettered. The Government and its institutions had ceased to function effectively. The members of the Pacific Islands Forum, therefore, agreed to support the formation of a regional assistance mission to be led and funded by Australia and New Zealand with membership from all Forum countries. RAMSI is now in the process of totally withdrawing military forces so that the mission will become a police only process.

The PPF is the public face of RAMSI and after quelling civil disturbances to restore peace and good order in 2003 it has been involved in executive policing functions thereby creating a dual police service approach to the Solomon Islands. The PPF is making plans to return as much sovereignty over policing as possible to the RSIPF by June 2013. The legislation for policing, which provides the RSIPF with its legal mandate is out of date. The Ministry of Police, National Security and Corrections is currently reviewing the Act and undertaking consultations on it, with the assistance of an Australian lawyer engaged through RAMSI and supported by the APF.

Key issues around police mandate and the RSIPF's relationship with society as a whole include:

- Armed support for policing. Presently, the RSIPF is unarmed and the only armed police visible in the Solomon Islands are PPF personnel. This is a highly political issue and will have to be carefully decided between RAMSI and Solomon Islands government
- The role of the police in dealing with underlying issues of conflict including property rights, and resources exploitation (e.g. logging)
- The involvement of some members of the RSIPF as participants in the crisis (see next paragraph).

Police technical capacity: The PPF has done an excellent job with some 80% of people surveyed stating total confidence in the PPF and admiration for its performance in bringing peace back to the islands. The PPF is now into a phase of capacity building so that the RSIPF can resume its

Constitutional primacy for policing.^[1] The troubles of 2003 led to many allegations^[2] against the RSIPF of complicity in the disorders, collaboration with various anti-government groups, and that police personnel allowed rioters and rebels access to the firearms maintained in the police armoury in Honiara. The evaluation team was informed of on-going concerns about RSIPF performance including: public drunkenness by police in uniform, lack of visibility at times and places where trouble is brewing, harsh interactions with young people, and a poor level of response to reported crimes. This information is backed up by the People's Survey 2011, which reports that only 31% of respondents said that the RSIPF treats people fairly and with respect. People's dissatisfaction goes well beyond issues of poor performance, it was noted that people fear harassment, retaliation, damage to property and threats to safety if disputes are reported to the police.

Police relationship with communities: The Solomon Islands archipelago consists of more than 900 islands. The people comprise diverse cultures, languages, and customs. 93% are Melanesian, 4% Polynesian, and 1.5% Micronesian. Additionally, there are small numbers of Europeans and Chinese residents. Some 120 vernacular languages are spoken. There is also a tight culture of wantokism, with the requirement of loyalty to the wantok. This affects police personnel and results in allegations of favouritism in approach and suspicions of corrupt practice. One of the main causes of the perceptions, is the greater loyalty afforded towards constituencies, rather than the national interest⁴. In a study of state building in Solomon Islands, Fukuyama⁵, found that ... while possessing strengths in terms of delivering equity and social cohesion, wantokism is said to fundamentally impede Solomon Islands society's capacity to deal with collective action problems due to the continued embeddedness of political leadership within personalised networks of reciprocity.

The concept of community policing requires careful consideration in this context, particularly in relation to inter-communal tensions. RAMSI has encouraged closer linkages between the RSIPF and communities including through:

- Funding NGOs to support the development of community police committees
- Sporting activities and Blue Light clubs (New Zealand Police personnel have been active in this area)
- Working with NGOs to develop more victim centric approaches to violence against women (again, New Zealand Police personnel have been active in this area)

Police relationship with the formal justice system: RAMSI's Law and Justice Programme has supported improvements in institutions across the justice sector, including the judiciary and corrections service. There do not appear to be clear linkages between these interventions and those undertaken by the PPF aimed at improving the RSIPF's performance in the criminal justice chain.

Police relationship with non-state dispute resolution systems: With a population scattered over more than 900 islands, and 60% of Solomon Islanders never seeing a police officer, 6 non-state dispute resolution systems - mainly traditional and religious - are important forms of conflict and dispute resolution. Communities invest time and resources on reconciliation, in a formal setting as

^[1] For further and detailed information refer to the RAMSI web page at www.ramsi.org

 $^{^{[2]}}$ Some of which the evaluation team heard at first hand through interviews with victims

⁴ Greener. B, 2011 'Investigating the peacebuilding projects in the Pacific: The experience of Solomon Islands and Timor Leste

⁵ Fukuyama. F 2008 'State building in Solomon Islands', *Pacific Economic Bulletin* 23(3), 18–34.

⁶ Estimate by RAMSI adviser

the national reconciliation policy of the government and in informal settings as part of tradition and custom. Churches are heavily involved in these processes (e.g. as a peace centre providing trauma healing, counselling, reconciliation and peace dialogue in retreats and across networks in the community). A number of people advised the evaluation team that police were seen as fundamental and very important to reconciliation processes. New Zealand Police personnel were spoken of in positive terms in their ability to comfort people in a workshop setting when there was fear and tension. A particularly important role for police is to encourage crime victims to come forward.

Findings on intervention-level outcomes

Findings against outcomes are as follows:

Summary key intended results	Intended final delivery date	Key evidence
Civil order, rule of law and safe communities [On-going outcome] Community has confidence and trust in RSIPF [Long term outcome] Political mandate for RSIPF secured [Medium term outcome] RSIPF is a capable, efficient, self-reliant and self-sustaining police force with new services and approaches in use (including collaborative crime prevention, community safety and security initiatives) [Medium term outcome]	2012	Law and order re-established, but limited progress made on developing RSIPF capacity Draft Independent Review 2009 RAMSI Annual Performance Report 2010 People's Survey Interviews evidence and observations gathered during evaluation fieldwork

Evaluation conclusions

New Zealand Police personnel have clearly made a positive contribution to the PPF. They are highly respected within the PPF and by the RSIPF, who recall the productive tenure of the present New Zealand Police Commissioner of Police, Peter Marshall, when positive strides were taken towards the professionalisation of the RSIPF. A sample of members of the public spoken to by the evaluation team said they found it easiest to identify with police from other Pacific Island countries⁷ of similar ethnic origins. Undoubtedly the ethnic diversity of its personnel contributes to the success of RAMSI. The evaluation team were concerned that on occasions New Zealand Police were counterparted with more senior officers within the RSIPF.

The geography, demography, languages and wantok culture make policing in the Solomon Islands a difficult and expensive task. It is difficult to communicate, customs differ from community to community, the culture of wantokism is engrained and the islands are difficult to reach without costly seagoing boats and aircraft. It appears that limited progress has been made to assist the RSIPF to address these issues. While satisfaction levels with the PPF are high, the 2007 RAMSI People's Survey⁸ found that 54% of people believed misbehaviour was likely amongst senior officials (including the RSIPF police) or politicians, this increased to 81% in 2008 and 83% in 2009⁹. The 2011

⁷ The PPF has deployed police personnel from Australia, Cook Islands, Federated States of Micronesia, Fiji, Kiribati, Marshall Islands, Nauru, New Zealand, Niue, Palau, Papua New Guinea, Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu.

http://www.ramsi.org/solomon-islands/peoples-survey.html

⁹ After 2009, this question or a variation of it was not addressed in the Peoples Survey.

Annex A(3): Solomon Islands - RAMSI Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

Survey reported that only 31% of Solomon Islanders said that the RSIPF treats people fairly and with respect.

As far as community policing is concerned, consultations with senior RSIPF ranks suggested that the intention is to develop a community police model suitable for the Solomon Islands. The RSIPF has studied community policing in Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, Australia, Fiji and New Zealand. The evaluation team was formed that the intention was not to adopt any one of these model, but rather design a model that meets the needs of the Solomon Islands. The on-going review of the Police Act is clearly an important entry point for ensuring that community policing is adopted as a whole of policing approach.

Annex A(4): Tonga

Intervention description

The Tonga Police Development Programme (TPDP) is a trilateral (New Zealand, Australia, Government of Tonga) four year intervention, prepared following a Joint Assessment Mission which sets out a clear analysis of the problems faced by the Tongan Police. TPDP supports the Tonga Police's four-year Police business plan which includes the development of a new police law, and structural reorganisation. Support is provided by way of technical assistance and secondments (including the appointment of a New Zealander to the position of Commander), and funding for legislative drafting, equipment and other resource needs.

Tonga Police Development Programme: key events

	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	
Intervention events: preparation, design and review									
Request for assistance	A								
Civil unrest in Nuku'alofa	Δ								
Joint Assessment Mission (JAM)		Δ							
report									
McGovern Report									
MOA TPDP									
Community Policing Review						Δ			
Joint Assessment Review						A			
Implementation events				-					
Tonga Police Development							\Rightarrow		
Programme									
Tonga Police Strategic Plan					1			\Rightarrow	
Tonga Police 4-year Business Plan								\Rightarrow	
Tonga Police Act						Δ			

Tonga Police Development Programme: expenditure summary – (funded from MFAT)

2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	Total (2005/2012)
n/a	n/a	n/a	200	942	1,044	865	702	3,753

Notes: (1) The above figures refer to ODA expenditure for work implemented by the NZP. The figures do not include NZP expenditure from other sources nor ODA paid to other vendors (estimated at about 3-4% of the total ODA spent on police reform).

(2) Approximately 61% of ODA expenditure funded personnel salaries.

Currency: NZ\$ 000's Source: MFAT data

Intended intervention outcomes

Overarching Goal: An effective Tonga Police which has the trust and confidence of the community								
Long Term Outcomes	The Tonga Police Force is a capable and effective community-focused organisation							
Medium term Outcomes	Role and governance of Tonga Police clarified	The Tonga Police Force is effectively led and managed	Quality of police operations improved					

Overview of the policing context

Police mandate: Tonga has undertaken a significant shift towards democracy. Two thirds of the legislature is popularly elected. Most political power is now in the hands of elected officials. The prime minister is now elected by the parliament, rather than appointed by the King. The constitution allows for a vote of no confidence in the government.

A new Police Act 2012, supported by TPDP confronts the issue of separation of executive powers (ministerial) and operational command (commissioner of police). It gives the commissioner significantly more autonomy and power, and facilitates merit-based promotion. The evaluation team found that a significant number of senior officers and officials including politicians do not support the new Act and by extension, aspects of the TPDP that challenge the arrangements that had been in place before the Act was passed. It also heard that there is a cohort of 'long-serving disaffected police who will not survive on merit who will continue to cause problems' but that there is a new emerging group of younger individuals who are prepared to speak up in favour of the changes. The evaluation team heard concerns that the Act had been pushed through without adequate consultation. The composition and role of the promotion board in selecting a new commissioner is not well supported, meaning that the legitimacy of decisions to appoint a new commissioner is questioned by some observers. The evaluation team was not able to gauge the depth, spread or significance of these concerns.

Police technical capacity: TPDP has supported the Tonga Police by providing new vehicles and equipment such as radios, a new forensics centre and accreditation of police expert witnesses in cannabis verification. There is significant resistance to change from longer servicing police, and an evidence of expectation of entitlement to promotion by virtue of seniority, regardless of merit.

Police relationship with communities: Significant efforts are being made to strengthen the linkages between the police and communities. A community policing coordinating centre provides support to nine community patrol posts. Community police officers (not sworn officers, without a uniform apart from a high visibility vest, and no remuneration) work in communities and with volunteers who assist with patrols. Training was provided by the AFP/New Zealand Police on roles, responsibilities, and legal boundaries, following concerns about the excessive use of force). Much of their role is around raising community awareness and coordinating unpaid community safety volunteers. Visibility of police has been enhanced by the provision of new police vehicles. Efforts are underway to establish systems to gather analyse and disseminate intelligence within communities. Locally elected district officers and town officers report to the community services unit in the prime minister's office. Police meet with these officials on community issues affecting the police. As the officers have constabulary powers (limited to keeping public order) and may arrest and charge or

refer offenders to police, there is also a close operational relationship. Community safety at the village level is an important issue and much of the engagement between the elected officials and police has this as the main area of focus.

Police relationship with the formal justice system: The midterm review of TPDP recommended the integration of TPDP assistance with other stakeholders in the law and justice.

Police relationship with non-state dispute resolution systems: At the village level, many victims choose to seek assistance from the village *fono*. Police meet with the *fono* once a month and these meetings have, in some instances, been used as an opportunity to move away from a community resolution approach, to more formal reporting, especially in relation to sexual and gender based violence.

Findings on intervention-level outcomes

Findings against outcomes are as follows:

Summary key intended results	Intended	Key evidence
	final	
	delivery	
	date	
Tonga Police Force is a capable and effective	2012	Police Act 2010
community-focused organisation [Long term		Code of conduct 2010
outcome]		TPDP Joint Assessment Review Final
Role and governance of Tonga Police clarified		report (2011)
[Medium term outcome]		 Tonga Police Strategic Plan (2009 -
Tonga Police Force is effectively led and managed		2013)
[Medium term outcome]		• 4-year Business plan (2009-2013)
Quality of Police operations improved [Medium		Tonga Police M&E framework
term outcome]		TPDP Monthly status reports
		Tonga Police Training School Business
		Plan (2010-2011)
		Interviews evidence and observations gathered during evaluation fieldwork

Evaluation conclusions

The key issues for taking forward police reform in Tonga are related to politics and policy. New Zealand Police and the AFP are well placed to assist with reform at a technical level. But key to success will be ownership, and a local drive for reform.

The TPDP mid-term review noted the need to secure buy-in for the reform process around the Police Act — Despite extensive consultation and for reasons not apparent to the review team, messages have not been received by a wide range of stakeholders. The resulting fall out (unrest among staff and politicians and further discussions/delays with the implementation of the Tonga Police Act 2010) has had a negative impact on the implementation of the TPDP. This disquiet or unrest could also be a reflection on the lack of a project design. If more time is spent up front in engaging staff in designing the change process and winning 'buy in', the more you save later when you do not have to deal with serious conflict, confrontation and resistance. The communications strategy needs to be revisited and refocused on internal communications with staff. This issue is not irretrievable if moves are made now to repair the damage and to engage staff in the design process for the TPDP extension.

Annex A(4): Tonga Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

The evaluation team noted positive commitment to reform amongst younger officers in the Tonga Police, and amongst women officers.

Annex A(5): Pacific Islands Chiefs of Police

Intervention description

New Zealand's Aid Programme provides funding to the Wellington-based secretariat of the Pacific Island Chiefs of Police (PICP). PICP evolved from an annual meeting for the South West Pacific Chiefs of Police in the 1970s into its current form, which was established in 2004. Demand from the Chiefs across the wider Pacific to join the annual conference and a desire for a secretariat that could undertake projects on behalf of the Chiefs led to the expansion of geographic spread and an agreement between the New Zealand Police, the AFP and MFAT to provide staff and resources.

PICP operates across 21 Pacific Island Countries in Micronesia, Melanesia and Polynesia. Fiji is currently suspended, following the events of 2006. PICP operates under a charter to promote and foster the efficiency, effectiveness, capacity and integrity of all aspects of policing in Pacific Island Countries. The mission of PICP is through collaboration of its members, vigorously and effectively represent the policing interests of all Pacific Island Countries to governments, non-government organisations, partner law enforcement agencies and the private sector both within and beyond the Pacific Region.

One of the core areas of concern in the early years of the Secretariat was the harm caused by sex and gender based violence across the Pacific. The Secretariat was tasked by the Chiefs to scope the nature and extent of the problem, leading to the commencement of PPDVP as a stand-alone programme in 2005 (see annex A(6)).

In 2003, Australian Federal Police and New Zealand Police formed the PICP-Women's Advisory Network (WAN) mandated to foster the contribution of women in policing, and provide timely and effective advice to PICP in relation to issues impacting on women in policing.

PICP: key event chart

	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014
Intervention events: preparation,	design a	and revi	ew						
Intervention approved (MOU)									
Intervention commenced		1	1	\Rightarrow					
Extended to June 2010 (LOV -2)					\Rightarrow				
Extended to June 2011 (LOV -4)					_	\Rightarrow			
Extended to Dec 2012 (LOV -7)							\Rightarrow		
ADD approved						Δ	-		\Rightarrow

PICP: expenditure summary – (funded from MFAT)

2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	Total (2005/2012)
323	530	957	739	813	922	666	469	5,419

Notes (1) The above figures refer to ODA expenditure for work implemented by the NZP. The figures do not include NZP expenditure from other sources nor ODA paid to other vendors (estimated at about 3-4% of the total ODA spent on police reform).

(2) The percentage of ODA expenditure which funded personnel salaries was not available when the report was completed.

Currency: NZ\$ 000's Source: MFAT data

Overarching	Overarching Goal: Safe and secure communities for all Pacific Islands countries								
Long Term Outcomes	More capable police forces across Pacific region								
Medium term Outcomes	Sense of regional identity around common issues developed	Greater participation of women in police forces							

Intended intervention outcomes

Findings on intervention-level outcomes

Findings against outcomes are as follows:

Summary key intended results	Intended final delivery date	Key evidence
More capable police forces across the Pacific region [Long term outcome] Sense of regional identity around common issues	On-going	Limited evidence. Attribution is difficult 2011 MFAT stock-take
developed [Medium term outcome] Greater participation of women in police forces [Long term outcome]		 Interviews evidence and observations gathered during evaluation fieldwork

Evaluation conclusions

Key findings of a 2011 stock-take of PICP¹⁰ were that:

• PICP is relevant to member states' priorities, but is overshadowed by the existence of better resourced bilateral programmes funded by Australia and New Zealand within the Region.

 $^{^{}m 10}$ Stocktake of the Pacific Islands Chiefs of Police (PICP) Secretariat, 2011, New Zealand Aid

Annex A(5): Pacific Islands Chiefs of Police Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

- The effectiveness of the annual conference is questionable when viewed as the decision-making step in an ongoing process of needs identification, planning, drafting of ToR for projects to meet identified needs, and ongoing results monitoring and reporting.
- There is potential for the development of the Secretariat as a resource centre of policing initiatives, including through research, and provision of tools to support policing in the pacific.

Findings on WAN were that while the enthusiasm and potential for the WAN project to contribute to gender equity outcomes in the Pacific was great, through the Secretariat's work in hosting the WAN Secretariat, significant challenges to this Project were noted. Poor quality activity design and implementation, insufficient engagement by the Secretariat with Chiefs themselves on WAN issues (apart from during the annual conference) and limited reporting diminished the results of this Project. The absence of a range of engagement strategies, particularly with Chiefs on WAN Project initiatives was also noted. While individual exchanges noted favourably their experiences, it is difficult to see tangible results against gender equity indicators from Pacific police services' participation in the WAN Project since 2004/5. Although the WAN provided opportunities for information exchange, a sharper results-based focus was needed. The evaluation team heard first hand of the value of the exchange programme and from PICP on its plans to implement the recommendations in the stock-take report.

Interviews with Chiefs conducted during the evaluation broadly supported these findings. Suggestions made to enhance the value added by PICP included:

- Stronger engagement from the Secretariat, particularly in providing relevant information on new initiatives and researching into policing operations.
- Stronger follow through on conference topics to support their practical application in country contexts.

Annex A(6): Pacific Prevention of Domestic Violence Programme

Intervention description

The Pacific Prevention of Domestic Violence Programme (PPDVP) is a five-year intervention to build the capacity of participating Pacific island countries' police forces to address the prevention and response to domestic violence. PPDVP operates within the ambit of the Pacific Islands Chiefs of Police. PPDVP built on earlier New Zealand aid and New Zealand Police support to police forces in the Pacific to build their capacity to prevent/respond effectively to domestic violence. Feedback indicated that the assistance was well received in the region, and there was a need for more consistent and on-going support.¹¹ PPDV projects are currently being undertaken in the Cook Islands, Samoa, Tonga, Kiribati and Vanuatu.

PPDVP: key events

	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
Intervention events: preparation, design and review									
Intervention designed	Δ								
Intervention approved		Δ							
Current phase redesign							Δ		
Current phase							1		

PPDVP: expenditure summary – (funded from MFAT)

2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	Total (2005/2012)
n/a	300	759	971	1,007	672	1,055	862	5,626

Notes: (1) The above figures refer to ODA expenditure for work implemented by the NZP. The figures do not include NZP expenditure from other sources nor ODA paid to other vendors (estimated at about 3-4% of the total ODA spent on police reform).

(2) Approximately 30% of ODA expenditure funded personnel salaries.

Currency: NZ\$ 000's Source: MFAT data

¹

¹¹ NZPOL/PICP/NZAID Design Team August 2005 Pacific Prevention of Domestic Violence Programme Programme Design Document

Intended intervention outcomes

Overarching Goal: A safer Pacific, free from domestic violence										
Long	Domestic violence red	Domestic violence reduced throughout the Pacific								
Term										
Outcomes										
	Legislation enforced									
Medium term Outcomes	Increased Pacific police capability to prevent/respond effectively to domestic violence	Increased awareness of domestic violence amongst the elite	Increased public / NGO and community awareness about domestic violence	Increased awareness of domestic violence, commitment to addressing domestic violence, with more capability to respond effectively to domestic violence by key Pacific police officers						

Findings on intervention-level outcomes

Findings against outcomes are as follows:

Summary key intended results	Intended final delivery	Key evidence
Domestic violence reduced throughout the Pacific [Long term outcome] Legislation enforced [Long term outcome] Increased Pacific police capability to prevent/ respond effectively to domestic violence [Medium term outcome] Increased awareness of domestic violence amongst the elite [Medium term outcome] Increased public / NGO and community awareness about domestic violence [Medium term outcome] Increased awareness of domestic violence, commitment to addressing domestic violence, with more capability to respond effectively to domestic violence by key Pacific police officers [Medium term outcome]	date On-going	Limited evidence – few statistics available. Attribution is difficult Turnbull.B 2011 Independent Evaluation Report Pacific Prevention of Domestic Violence Programme Baseline and follow up surveys Interviews evidence and observations gathered during evaluation fieldwork

Evaluation conclusions

Key findings of an independent evaluation of PPDVP^{12} concluded that:

- PPDVP is one important element in a wave of social and cultural change, and has assisted Pacific
 Police to take significant steps forward in their attitudes towards domestic violence.
- The aims of supporting the development of appropriate national legislation and policy on domestic violence, inclusion of domestic violence in development plans, and supporting training

¹² Turnbull.B 2011 Independent Evaluation Report Pacific Prevention of Domestic Violence Programme

of the judiciary and legal profession were outside the control of either the national Police Service or the PPDVP. It is not an appropriate area for PPDVP to be an active participant.

Baseline surveys were undertaken in 2005 (2007 for Vanuatu) and were updated in January 2011. They identify successes in relation to police attitudes, policy and practice, establishment of domestic violence units, improved data collection and improved police partnerships as attributable to strong and consistent leadership at the highest level of the Police, written up-to-date best practice domestic violence guidelines, the involvement of passionate and dedicated officers, the existence of an external 'watch dog' (usually an NGO), dedicated staff in domestic violence units, efficient recording and monitoring systems (for example case management systems that incorporate NGOs), internal structures that monitor Police practice (for example professional development plans) study tours and other forms of mentoring that expose Police to international domestic violence best practice, a programme of ongoing and regularly updated staff training and the role played by the PPDVP mentors.

The evaluation team reviewed PPDVP 'on the ground' in the Cook Islands and Tonga where key aspects of the work are; supporting the setting up of domestic violence units within police; providing training to police officers; supporting linkages between the police and NGOs/ women's organisations providing support for victims of violence; supporting publicity campaigns, such as white ribbon day; and promoting a 'no drop policy' whereby once reported, cases are not dropped by the police without the authorisation of the court. There was anecdotal evidence that these initiatives were making a difference in the way female victims of domestic violence were treated. The evaluation team heard accounts of how the Declaration of Partnership between the PPDVP and the PICP mobilised Chiefs of Police to deal with members of their staff who had committed family violence: in one case the Commissioner arrested three senior officers, confident that he had the support of fellow Commissioners.

Key challenges noted by the evaluation team were:

- concerns expressed by local NGOs that the changes within the police did not go far enough, were not mainstreamed throughout the system and did not always feed through the criminal justice chain;
- the need to ensure 'localisation' for example using local gender experts for training;
- the extent to which PPDVP is addressing the way domestic violence is dealt with at community level. For example in Tonga the evaluation team heard account of some serious and ongoing assaults that were dealt with by way of a written agreement signed by both parties on the part of the woman not to aggravate the husband and on the part of the husband not to beat his wife;
- the need to examine the impact of the 'no drop policy'; and
- the need to ensure strong linkages with national processes (such as the Cook Islands National Policy on Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment), which promote both sustainable and holistic approaches.

Annex A(7): Partnership for Pacific Policing

Intervention description

The Partnership for Pacific Policing (3P) is a five-year programme of targeted interventions in Kiribati, Tuvalu, Niue, Tokelau, Vanuatu, Samoa, and other activities in the region. Initial focus countries are: Kiribati (including in-country adviser to Police Commissioner); Tuvalu (including short term advisers to support the Acting Commissioner, prosecutions and community policing). There may also be assistance to Vanuatu (community policing). Some assistance to Niue and Samoa will be provided in the first year through Pacific regional activities and participation in a supervisory skills course. Training and support activities will include prosecutions, youth, alcohol, road safety, operational emergency response, community policing.

3P: key events

	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Intervention events: preparation, design	gn and r	eview							•
Pacific Regional Policing Initiative									
(2004-2008)									
Various small projects and initiatives									
PPP established					Δ				
MOU between MFAT and NZ Police									
Programme duration									

3P: expenditure summary – (funded from MFAT)

2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	Total (2005/2012)
n/a	169,000	169,000						

Notes: (1) The above figures refer to ODA expenditure for work implemented by the NZP. The figures do not include NZP expenditure from other sources nor ODA paid to other vendors (estimated at about 3-4% of the total ODA spent on police reform).

(2) Approximately 2.2% of ODA expenditure funded personnel salaries.

Currency: NZ\$ 000's Source: MFAT data

Intended intervention outcomes

Overarching	Overarching Goal: Stronger links between Pacific Police forces and their governments							
Long Term	More professional police force	es in the Pacific	Increased public confidence in the police					
Outcomes								
	Structured framework for	Police forces ca	apable of	Police forces capable of				
Medium	Police, including SOPs and	delivering community policing		responding effectively				
term	local orders in place	through intelligence led						
Outcomes		approaches						

Findings on intervention-level outcomes

Findings against outcomes are as follows:

Summary key intended results	Intended final delivery date	Key evidence
More professional police forces in the Pacific [Long term outcome] Increased public confidence in the police [Long term outcome] Structured framework for police including SOPs and local orders in place [Medium term outcome] Police forces capable of delivering community policing through intelligence led approaches [Medium term outcome] Police forces capable of responding effectively [Medium term outcome]	On-going	Too early to assess 2011 Monitoring report

Evaluation conclusions

The 3P programme is in its infancy. A 2011 monitoring report¹³ found that *In-country work in the 3P* programme has been slow to get underway. As a result it has not been possible to consider the extent to which the 3P programme is on track to meeting the targets set down.

The evaluation team noted from a document review that:

- In Kiribati, the linkages between the police and the rest of the criminal justice chain are being addressed through the training of police prosecutors using a highly participatory methodology focusing on practicing skills (including mock Court scenario work), file evaluation using real files from prosecution office, and on-job observations in Court supported by formative feedback and coaching assisted by supervisors.
- In Vanuatu, support is being provided to developing a community policing strategy which focuses on building linkages with local communities and integrating with informal village justice systems

96

 $^{^{13}}$ New Zealand Aid 2011, Partnership for Pacific Policing One Year Monitoring Report

ANNEX B – EVALUATION QUESTIONS AND TERMS OF REFERENCE

Objectives and evaluation questions

	TIVE 1: RELEVANCE – to determine the extent to which the programme of policing work
	een relevant to the needs of partner countries and New Zealand
	ghout the evaluation period (2005-2011)
1.1	How coherent was the programme?
1.2	To what extent was the programme aligned with New Zealand's strategic and development interests (including regional security and trans-boundary issues)?
1.3	To what extent was the programme aligned with partner countries' strategic, development, and law and justice sector interests and needs (including regional security and trans-boundary issues)?
1.4	To what extent were the approaches adopted by the programme aligned with good development practice?
1.5	How and in what circumstances did peace-keeping work transition to a development approach (including capacity development)?
1.6	What were the advantages and disadvantages of a regional approach?
	TIVE 2: EFFECTIVENESS – to identify the intended results (outputs and outcomes and
	ated achievements of the programme)
Throu	ghout the evaluation period (2005-2011)
2.1	To what extent did the programme deliver on supporting New Zealand's strategic and development interests (including regional security and trans-boundary issues)?
2.2	To what extent did the programme deliver on supporting partner countries' strategic, development, and law and justice sector interests and needs (including regional and trans-boundary issues)
2.3	To what extend have the intended results (outcomes and outputs) of the programme been achieved (quality and time)?
2.4	Has the programme had any unintended consequences? If so, have these been mitigated, if negative, or embraced if positive?
2.5	To what extent did the programme provide leverage for, or leverage from improvements in the law and justice system as a whole?
2.6	What factors enhanced achievement of the results?
2.7	What factors constrained achievement of the results?
OBJEC	TIVE 3: SUSTAINABILITY – to determine the extent to which the programme has (or is
likely	to) contributed to sustained development outcomes
3.1	To what extent is there local ownership of the reform process?
3.2	Are the improvements brought about though NZ funded interventions likely to be
	sustained / difficult to reverse?
3.3	What factors are constraining sustainability?
OBJEC	TIVE 4: EFFICIENCY – to determine the extent to which the programme and the
interv	entions have been efficient
Throu	ghout the evaluation period (2005-2011)
4.1	Programme management:
4.1.1	To what extent were the arrangements and relationships between the New Zealand Police National Headquarters, MFAT Wellington, MFAT Posts, other sector actors and implementing sites officient and provided value for manage.
4.1.2	implementing sites efficient and provided value for money? To what extent has the programme been appropriately resourced with the right technical and development competences to achieve development results?

4.2	Financial efficiency: To what extent could the programme have achieved the same level
	of actual outcomes at less financial cost and with fewer staffing resources from MFAT and
	NZ Police? (value for money)
	CTIVE 5: CROSS CUTTING – to determine the extent to which the programme has
	priately addressed gender and human rights, in line with NZ mandate ¹⁴
Throu	ghout the evaluation period (2005-2011)
5.1	To what extent has the programme addressed gender and human rights through targeted
	interventions?
5.2	What human rights and gender outcomes have been achieved?
5.3	To what extent are gender and human rights outcomes likely to be sustained?
5.4	To what extent has the programme mainstreamed gender and human rights?
	TIVE 6: LESSONS – to identify lessons and opportunities for improving the relevance,
	iveness, efficiency and sustainability
Releva	
6.1	How can police work be implemented more effectively to promote the transition from
	peacekeeping to a development approach?
6.2	How can the programme maximise its relevance in the future, including from making
- 45	better use of regional mechanisms?
	iveness
6.3	In relation to any unintended consequences, how could the programme have better have
	mitigated (if negative) or embraced (if positive) ?
6.4	How can police work better leverage from and / or provide leverage for reforms across
	the law and justice sector in future?
	nability
6.5	How can factors that are constraining sustainability be integrated into programme design and implementation?
6.6	What does sustainability mean for policing in small Pacific Island states?
Efficie	ency
6.7	How could future resourcing (competencies) support better development outcomes?
6.8	Noting the work to be done towards forming a Partnerships Arrangement during 2011 and early 2012, how could the management arrangements between New Zealand Police and MFAT be further enhanced to maximise aid effectiveness and ensure successful implementation of the policing programme?
6.9	How can programme monitoring and reporting be improved (efficiently) to better meet results-based mutual accountability requirements?
Gende	er and human rights
6.10	What are the advantages and disadvantages of the different approaches used to achieve
	gender and human rights outcomes work under the programme? How might they be
	better used in the future (including through resourcing (competencies)) to achieve better
6 1 1	development outcomes? How can factors that are constraining sustainability of gender and human rights outcomes
6.11	be integrated into programme design and implementation?
6.12	How can programme monitoring and reporting be improved in relation to gender and human rights, including with regard to the effect of the interventions on both men and women?
6.13	How could gender and human rights mainstreaming within programme design and implementation be enhanced?

¹⁴ www.aid.govt.nz/about

Evaluation and Research of Police Work Funded Under the New Zealand Aid Programme Terms of Reference

Introduction

- 1. The development of policing functions in developing countries plays a critical role in creating the environment for broad-based development. The Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade (MFAT), through the New Zealand Aid Programme, has made a significant investment in country partners' policing services for many years. New Zealand Police is MFAT's main implementing partner for this work and they have undertaken 33 contracts valued at \$NZ66.4m over the last 10 years¹⁵.
- 2. The involvement of the New Zealand Police as an implementing partner has been increasing over the last five years with 28 (of the 33) contracts being funded since 2004 with a combined value of \$59.1m. Seventy seven percent of the funding since 2004 has been spent in the last three calendar years (\$45.3m). New Zealand Police are becoming increasingly well-known internationally for their development work, particularly with regards to community policing capacity development work in post-conflict and/or fragile states and in the Pacific.
- 3. The MFAT-New Zealand Police partnership is becoming increasingly important to both agencies and the New Zealand Aid Programme. It is therefore timely to assess past results and to identify key learnings to ensure future achievements are maximised for the benefit of country partners, the New Zealand Aid Programme, New Zealand Police, and for donors working in the law and justice sector.
- 4. Consultations with stakeholders have identified a range of information needs. Some of the priority questions of interest include:
 - · What has worked?
 - What makes for a successful police intervention model, and in what circumstances?
 - How do police interventions move from conflict prevention/peace-keeping to capacity development?
 - What does sustainability mean for policing in small Pacific Island states?
 - What role should regional and bilateral mechanisms have for policing work?
 - How well are our policing interventions providing leverage for and leverage from other law and justice interventions?
 - What role do policing interventions need to play to support New Zealand and Pacific Island partners from a security and trans-boundary perspective?
 - How can monitoring and reporting about police interventions be improved to meet key information needs efficiently?

Purpose of the Evaluation and Research Paper

5. The purpose of the evaluation is to assess the extent to which the New Zealand Aid Programme's support for work implemented by New Zealand Police has been and could be more relevant, effective, efficient and sustainable (see appendix one for a definition of these terms) in the future. The evaluation will also identify key lessons for the overall programme of police work (now and for the future); including for effective police work in post-conflict and/or fragile states.

¹⁵ Source: AMS – estimates may differ from other sources.

- 6. The information will be used by MFAT and the New Zealand Police to inform the strategic direction of the work programme, to strengthen the design and implementation of the programme and associated interventions, and to strengthen the range of Wellington-based and in-country partnership arrangements.
- 7. The purpose of the research paper is to contribute to knowledge about effective policing work (by New Zealand) in post-conflict and/or fragile states. The paper is expected to be used by the development community, including country partners, donors, and implementing agents involved in policing and law and justice initiatives.
- 8. The work will be undertaken in two phases with (at least) four linked publishable outputs:

Phase one (FY 2011-12): will focus on post-conflict and/or fragile state policing work. This phase will involve completion of a background study, fieldwork in post-conflict and/or fragile states, an evaluation report (post conflict and/or fragile states only), and the research paper about policing work in post-conflict and/or fragile states.

Phase two (FY 2012-13): will focus on policing work in the Pacific and will comprise of further fieldwork (other Pacific countries) and the completion of an evaluation report on policing work in the Pacific.

9. The background study (literature review) will examine the strategic context for international policing work, the different models and approaches deployed, and will develop a good practice framework/s¹⁶. Information from the background study will be used to inform the evaluations and research framework.

Scope

10. The work will examine all policing work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme and implemented by the New Zealand Police from the beginning of 2005¹⁷, irrespective of geographical location. Particular aspects of the evaluation and research work will have a narrower focus to align with their purpose and objectives (see table below).

Output / Objectives	Scope
Research paper	MFAT-funded post-conflict and / or fragile state policing Interventions: Afghanistan, Timor-Leste, Solomon Islands, and Papua New Guinea (Autonomous Region of Bougainville). Indonesia (West Papua) will be excluded due to the intervention being a pilot

¹⁶ The framework should reflect good practice in different policing contexts and it may be appropriate to develop a framework for different types of situation e.g. post-conflict and/or fragile states; peace-keeping, or related to the Pacific (Polynesia / Melanesia).

¹⁷ Information from before 2005 is likely to be diffuse and would be difficult collate.

Evaluation report – post-conflict and/or fragile states Objective one (relevance), questions 1.2-1.5; objective two (effectiveness); objective three (sustainability); objective four (efficiency); objective five (cross-cutting issues)	All key MFAT-funded post conflict and/or fragile state policing interventions (as above), with the exception of small and/or stand-alone contracts ¹⁸
Evaluation report – the Pacific Objective one (relevance), questions 1.2-1.5; objective two (effectiveness); objective three (sustainability); objective four (efficiency); objective five (cross-cutting issues)	All key MFAT-funded Pacific policing interventions, with the exception of small and/or stand-alone contracts. These Pacific policing interventions are located in Tonga, Cook Islands, Papua New Guinea (Autonomous Region of Bougainville), and the Solomon Islands, and also include the regional policing interventions Partnership for Pacific Policing Programme, Regional Pacific Prevention of Domestic Violence Programme and the Pacific Island Chiefs of Police Secretariat.

11. The defined scope for the two evaluations (phase one and two) mean that it will cover 94% of the funding since 2004, therefore, allowing findings with regards to the overall programme of police work since 2004. A table describing the main Activities in scope can be found in appendix three.

Objectives and High-level Questions

- 12. The work will be undertaken in two-phases with three outputs completed in the first phase (FY11-12) and one in the second phase (FY12-13). The objectives and high-level questions to be answered for each of the outputs are identified below. It is not mandatory for the evaluation team to address these questions but alternative and/or additional questions should be proposed through the evaluation and research plan.
- 13. <u>Background Study (phase one)</u>: taking into account different development contexts, the background study will examine the strategic context for international policing work, the different models and approaches deployed, and develop a good practice framework/s that can be used to inform the evaluation and research plan. The study should examine the information needs, in particular, from a post-conflict and/or fragile states perspective. The background study's purpose is:

Objective one: to identify the key strategic context and issues and their relevance for operating a high quality programme of police work under the New Zealand Aid Programme.

Objective two: to identify the different models, approaches, and associated good practice for police work in a development context (differentiate for post-conflict and/or fragile states and other ways as appropriate).

Objective three: to identify factors and processes for adapting these models and good practices to different operating contexts.

Objective four: based on objectives two and three, to develop a good practice and adaptation framework for assessing the programme.

¹⁸ This excludes 16 atypical and/or low-value contracts/Activities. For example, New Zealand support in Aceh (\$81k), emergency response work (\$25k), model police station in the Philippines (\$98k), special assistance to the Samoa law and justice sector programme (\$85k), specialist training for Indonesian drug investigators (\$32k), clandestine drug libratory training (\$140k).

Objective five: to identify key knowledge gaps in development policing work that the research paper and evaluation reports could address.

14. Research Paper (phase one): the paper will be informed by the background study and will draw on findings from the first phase of fieldwork in post-conflict and/or fragile states. Its purpose is:

Objective one: to identify key lessons (supported by case studies) about effective community policing in post-conflict and/or fragile states development work with reference to internationally recognised good practice and models/approaches for different contexts.

15. Evaluation Reports: the evaluation will examine the policing work in post-conflict and/or fragile states (phase one, FY11-12) and the second evaluation report will examine the policing work in the Pacific (phase two, FY12-13). Each evaluation report will address the objectives and high-level questions (below) from their unique focus (i.e. post-conflict and/or fragile states (phase one) and the Pacific (phase two).

Objective one, relevance: to determine the extent to which the programme of policing work has been relevant to the needs of partner countries and New Zealand.

- 1.1 to what extent is the programme coherent and aligned with meeting New Zealand's and our country partners' strategic and development interests? Consider, in particular, the programme's contribution to addressing regional security, trans-boundary, gender and human right issues.
- 1.2 to what extent has the work under the work programme been harmonised with priority strategic, country development, and law and justice sector needs including with regards to gender and human rights?
- 1.3 to what extent are the models and approaches being used aligned with good development practice and development needs? What are the advantages and disadvantages of different models and approaches (in different contexts) and how might they be utilised better to achieve better development outcomes? Include consideration of achieving gender and human right development outcomes.
- 1.4 how, and in what circumstances, does peace-keeping work successfully transition to a development approach (including capacity development) and how can policing work be implemented more effectively to promote this transition?¹⁹
- 1.5 to what extent have policing interventions being resourced with the right technical and development competencies to achieve development results (including to support gender and human rights outcomes), and how could future resourcing (re competencies) support better development outcomes?
- 1.6 how can the programme maximise its relevance in the future, including from making better use of regional mechanisms (identify advantages and disadvantages)?

Objective two, effectiveness: to identify the intended results (outputs and outcomes) and associated achievements of the programme.

- 2.1 to what extent has the programme met New Zealand's and our country partners' strategic and development interests, including with regards to gender and human rights?
- 2.2 to what extent have the intended results of the interventions been achieved (quality and time), including with regards to gender and human rights? What, if any, unintended outcomes resulted and how have these (or could these have) been mitigated, if negative, or opportunistically embraced, if positive?

¹⁹ This high-level question will only be addressed for interventions in post-conflict and/or fragile states, and those in the Pacific.

- 2.3 to what extent were the results leveraged from, and/or provided leverage for, other development outcomes (interventions) from within the law and justice sector, and how can leveraging be maximised in the future?
- 2.4 what factors enhanced or constrained achievement of results?

Objective three, sustainability: to determine the extent to which the programme has (or is likely to) contributed to sustained development outcomes.

- 3.1 to what extent is local ownership developing for the policing work?
- 3.2 to what extent are positive development outcomes likely to continue after the Activities end?
- 3.3 what factors in different contexts are constraining the sustainability of the development outcomes and how can they be integrated into Activity and programme design and implementation? Include consideration of the sustainability of achieving gender and human right development outcomes.

Objective four, efficiency: to determine the extent to which the programme and the Activities themselves have been efficient.

- to what extent has the overall programme management been efficient and provided value for money? Consider the arrangements and relationships between New Zealand Police National Headquarters, MFAT Wellington, MFAT Posts, other sector actors and implementing sites.
- 4.2 noting the work to be done towards forming a Partnerships Arrangement during 2011 and early 2012, how could the management arrangements between New Zealand Police and MFAT be further enhanced to maximise Aid Effectiveness and ensure successful implementation of the policing Programme?
- 4.3 how can intervention monitoring and reporting be improved (efficiently) to better meet results-based mutual accountability requirements? Including with regards to monitoring and reporting of gender outcomes and the effect of the interventions on different genders.

Objective five, cross-cutting: to determine the extent to which the Activities have appropriately addressed gender and human rights²⁰.

- to what extent has the programme addressed gender and human rights and, where gender or human rights outcomes were intended, what outcomes have been achieved, including for targeted beneficiaries? To what extent are these outcomes likely to be sustained?
- 5.2 how could gender and human rights mainstreaming within Activity design and implementation be enhanced going forward?

Objective six, lessons: to identify lessons and opportunities for improving the relevance, effectiveness, efficiency and sustainability.

Methodology

16. The design for the evaluation and research should be developed by the evaluation team and submitted as an evaluation and research plan. The Plan will also identify how the work will be organised over the two phases (phase one, before July 2012; and phase two, before January 2013). The Plan will meet the purpose and objectives for the four outputs identified in this terms of reference, and it will identify the information, processes and tools required to provide evidence-based findings, conclusions and recommendations (required) for this evaluation. The Plan will also identify how the content of each output will be organised (sections and subsections). The work will be underpinned by the key

²⁰ Refer to the New Zealand Mandate (<u>www.aid.govt.nz/about</u>/) and previous NZAID cross-cutting policies.

Annex B – Evaluation Questions and Terms of Reference Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

principles of independence and transparency. In addition to the requirements stated in this methodology section, the Plan will also address the topics and questions identified in appendix two.

- 17. Gender analysis should be integrated into the evaluation and research design, data collection and analysis and reporting. Also, where relevant, the evaluation design will take a theory-based approach. The intended outcomes of the programme and Activities how progress can be measured, being identified ²¹ before any fieldwork ²².
- 18. The evaluation design is to include an assessment of value for money at the programme level. The assessment should establish to what extent the same level of <u>actual</u> outcomes could have been achieved at less financial cost (i.e. financial analysis) and staffing resource (New Zealand Police and MFAT). Conclusions about value for money will be discussed taking into account the level of <u>intended</u> compared to <u>actual</u> outcomes (refer to the assessment of effectiveness).
- 19. The Plan will identify how the information needs can be met through current documentation (including undertaking documentary analysis), and what information gaps will need to be filled through fieldwork including in-country visits. Information gathering to fill any gaps is likely to require a range of data collection methods, for example, interviews (structured and semi-structured), focus groups, direct observation and case studies.
- 20. The Plan will be considered for approval by the steering group once it has been endorsed by the Evaluation Manager.

Governance

21. The evaluation will be governed by a steering group comprising of the key stakeholders as indicated in the table below. The steering group will ensure the evaluation is fit-for-purpose and is delivered as agreed in these terms of reference and as agreed through the approval of the evaluation and research plan. Key responsibilities of the steering group will include agreeing the terms of reference, evaluation and research plan, background study, research paper, and evaluation reports. Details of the purpose, roles, responsibilities, and the meeting schedule are enclosed in the steering group's terms of reference.

 $^{^{\}rm 21}$ This information should be included in the evaluation and research plan.

²² It is recommended that the evaluation team draws on MFAT's results framework guidance for this work. The identified outcomes should be verified during fieldwork. The materials will be used for the evaluation, and to inform future M&E and reporting of the programme.

Eval	Evaluation Steering Group and Roles				
Barbara Williams, IDG Director Pacific Bi-lateral Division (Chair)	Business owner. Ensuring the evaluation meets the required contribution to MFAT interests in the Pacific				
Amanda Ellis, IDG Deputy Secretary, MFAT (attendance as time allows)	Ensuring the evaluation meets the strategic needs of the New Zealand Aid Programme				
Stuart Wildon, National Manager International Services Group; and Tony Grubb, Manager International Strategy and Policy, New Zealand Police	Ensuring the evaluation meets the needs of the NZP				
Sarndra Hamilton, IDG Partnerships, Humanitarian and Disaster Management Division	Ensuring the evaluation meets the required contribution to MFAT future relationship and programming with NZP				
Ingrid van Aalst, IDG Principle Evaluation Manager	The Principal Evaluation Manager will provide evaluative input to help the steering group in decision-making. Represents the evaluation sponsor and their needs				
Mark Ramsden, MFAT Post Solomon Islands	Provide a Posts' perspective on the requirements of the evaluation and the interpretation of the findings				

Management

22. Delivery of the evaluation will be the responsibility of the New Zealand Aid Programme's Evaluation Team, and will be managed by the assigned evaluation manager (Andrew Kibblewhite, Senior Evaluation Adviser). The evaluation manager will also operate as secretary to the evaluation steering group.

Evaluation Team

- 23. The independent evaluation team (i.e. people not previously involved in the design or implementation of any in-scope interventions) is to be composed of at least four team members: a community policing in a development context expert, a law and justice sector expert, an evaluation expert, and a research assistant. Leadership of the team will be assigned based on meeting the required competencies for the leadership role. The roles and functions of the team members are detailed in appendix four.
- 24. Gender analysis competencies have been identified for the evaluation team roles (except for the research assistant). If the right mix of skills in these positions cannot be found, then a gender expert role, either within or outside the team, may be contracted. A governance and capacity development expert will be contracted outside the team to provide peer-review for the evaluation and research plan and report.
- 25. The evaluation team roles will be either contracted as a team or separately, through an open tender process. The contracts will be managed by the evaluation manager.

Key Outputs, Delivery and Publishing

- 26. The evaluation will be undertaken in two phases by the same team, and will produce the key outputs identified in the table below.
- 27. The New Zealand Aid Programme is committed to international aid transparency and has made a commitment under the International Aid Transparency Initiative to publishing all evaluation reports.

As such, all the main written outputs from the work will be made publicly available and published. Each output will be written to ensure all the content is appropriate for public release. Any content not appropriate for publishing will be provided to the steering group by way of a separate memorandum.

28. Other outputs (e.g. presentations and knowledge notes) to assist within the dissemination of the findings, conclusions and recommendations will also be identified through the dissemination plan which will be part of the agreed evaluation and research plan.

Team Outputs	Publishing / Delivery Dates
Phase one, FY 2011-12	
Background study	Will be published as a stand-alone document on the New Zealand Aid Programme website (submitted and accepted as a final document by 27 January 2012)
Evaluation and research plan	May be published as a stand-alone document on the New Zealand Aid Programme website and/or published as part of the evaluation reports
- Draft Plan	Submitted and accepted as a satisfactory draft by 15 February 2012
- Final Plan	Submitted and accepted by 29 February
Fieldwork in post-conflict and/or fragile states (if and as needed)	Between March and May 2012
Evaluation report on policing in post-conflict and /or fragile states	Will be published as a stand-alone document on the New Zealand Aid Programme website and may be publish in part or in full in other media
- Draft	Submitted and accepted as a satisfactory draft by 1 June 2012
- Final	Submitted and accepted by 22 June 2012
Research paper	Will be published as a stand-alone document on the New Zealand Aid Programme website and submitted as a research article to (an) agreed journal/s
- Draft report	Submitted and accepted as a satisfactory draft by 8 June 2012
- Final report	Submitted and accepted by 22 June 2012
Phase two, FY 2012-13	
Additional fieldwork in Tonga and the Cook Islands (if and as needed)	July 2012
Evaluation report on police work in the Pacific	Will be published as a stand-alone document on the New Zealand Aid Programme website and may be publish in part or in full in other media
- Draft report	Submitted and accepted as a satisfactory draft by 2 August 2012
- Final report	Submitted and accepted by 20 August 2012

Quality

29. The table below refers to the standards and requirements for each of the main written outputs. All evaluation processes and all outputs are required to be independent (carried out in a way that avoids any adverse effects of political or organisational influence on the findings) and transparent (process open and understood by all parties).

Outputs	Standards and Requirements
Background study	 Meets the standards whereby it would be accepted in a refereed journal of good standing. The publication should show considerable analytical skill and integrate content into clearly articulated key themes
Research paper	Meets the standards whereby it would be accepted in a refereed journal of good standing. The publication should show considerable analytical skill and integrate content into clearly articulated key themes and provide well-written case studies using case study methodology
Evaluation and research plan, field work, draft evaluation reports, final evaluation reports	These products should meet the standards and requirements outlined in the DAC Evaluation Quality Standards and the NZAID Guideline on the Structure of Evaluation and Review Reports In particular:
Терогіз	 as this is an evidence-based evaluation approach, the findings, conclusions and recommendations <u>must</u> be based on clear evidence presented in documentation in a way that allows the reader to form their own views on the validity and reliability of the findings, including assessing the vested interests of sources
	 where there is conflicting evidence or interpretations, the report should note the differences and justify the findings
	 The body (i.e. excluding appendices) of each evaluation report should be no more than forty pages in length (1.5 spacing and 12pt font)

Dissemination and Follow-up

- 30. The evaluation and research plan will contain a plan for disseminating the findings, conclusions and recommendations. This plan will ensure that this information is used as effectively as possible to ensure learning take-up and improvement in programming and implementation. The information will be disseminated in partnership by the evaluation team, the New Zealand Police (steering group representative) and the New Zealand Aid Programme evaluation business owner.
- 31. The New Zealand Aid Programme evaluation business owner will respond to the findings (findings, conclusions and recommendations) and will report back to the MFAT Development Leadership Team (or the equivalent, appropriate body) on the follow-up to these findings six months after the evaluation reports are agreed by the steering group.

Risks and Mitigation

32. The successful completion of the evaluation and delivery of the key outputs will be dependent on the management of key risks. The table below identifies how the key risks for this evaluation will be effectively mitigated.

Risk	Mitigation Approach
Data availability and quality	Careful and well-resourced documentary analysis will help ensure the data gaps are understood and data gathering resourced
Country partner buy-in and availability	Posts to support with country partner engagement during the evaluation and with in-country scheduling and logistics
Timing of fieldwork (Afghanistan winter, Pacific cyclone season, elections in Timor-Leste)	Contingencies built into approvals
Sensitive findings	Clear instructions about the key outputs being published. Sensitive information may be provided via a separate memorandum

Annex B – Evaluation Questions and Terms of Reference Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

Appendix One: DAC / OECD Evaluation Criteria

The DAC / OECD Evaluation Criteria was adopted (slightly modified) by MFAT (then NZAID) and defined as below. The definitions will be used for the purposes of this evaluation.

Effectiveness: whether and to what extent the programme and/or activity has achieved the desired outcomes

Relevance: whether and to what extent the activity has addressed the needs and priorities of the target groups and is aligned with the partner's policies and priorities

Sustainability: whether and to what extent the benefits can be sustained after the end of the development assistance

Efficiency: the extent to which the programme could have been implemented at less cost without reducing the quality and quantity of the activities.

Reference: NZAID Evaluation Policy Statement, July 2007 (p. 3)

Appendix Two: Evaluation and Research Plan

The evaluation and research plan should address but not be limited to covering the following topics and address the following questions.

Topics

- Stakeholder analysis
- Gender analysis and how human rights will be assessed
- Results framework development
- Specific research questions to meet the information requirements (purpose, objectives and high-level questions) for both the evaluation and research
- Detailed description of the evaluation and research methods
- Draft evaluation and research tools
- Data analysis
- Ethical considerations
- Limitations, risks and constraints
- How the content of the outputs will be organised (sections and subsections), including how the broad findings and recommendations covered by both evaluations reports (i.e. not specific to either) will be reported
- Dissemination plan

Questions

- How will the relevant principles be incorporated into this work?
- Who are the stakeholders, what is their interest or stake, what type of stakeholder are they (primary –
 directly benefit from the activity, secondary indirectly involved with the activity etc.), what issues or
 constraints are there in their involvement in the evaluation or research (e.g. power issues, access,
 confidentiality)?
- What information will be needed to answer each of the specific research questions for both the evaluation and research?
- What are the most appropriate methods for data/information collection to address each of the questions? For example, will qualitative and/or quantitative methods be used and why? How will study participants be selected? What specific methods will be used interviews (face-to-face or phone), email questionnaire, workshops, survey, focus groups etc.? For quantitative surveys how will the appropriate sample size be decided, and what statistical analysis will be used to allow judgement on the reliability of results?
- From whom will information be collected to answer each of the questions and how will the evaluation team ensure that the opinions of all appropriate stakeholders (for example, women and men, young and old, powerful and less powerful) are included?
- What questions will be asked in questionnaires or interviews?
- How will information gathered be cross checked?
- What procedures will be used for data analysis how will qualitative data such as interview notes be analysed, how will survey results be analysed?

Annex B – Evaluation Questions and Terms of Reference Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

- How will the findings be fed back and discussed with appropriate stakeholders during the process, and how will this be incorporated into the report?
- What risks, limitations or constraints are there likely to be and how can these be mitigated?
- How will ethical issues be addressed? For example how will participants be informed of the purpose and use of information they will provide? How will sensitivity to gender and culture be ensured during the evaluation? Is informed consent required from participants, if so how will this be obtained? How will confidentiality of participants be ensured and how will confidential material be stored? What potential harm to participants is there and how will potential harm be minimised?
- The evaluation and research plan should include a dissemination plan. The plan should identify how the evaluation team, New Zealand Aid Programme business owner, and the New Zealand Police will make the findings, conclusions and recommendations available to maximise the learners for both internal and external stakeholders.

Appendix Three: Key MFAT-Funded Police Activities

Activity	Description	Study Phasing
Partnership for Pacific Policing (3P)	A 5-year programme of targeted interventions to strengthen Pacific policing. Initial focus countries: Kiribati (including in-country adviser to Police Commissioner), Tuvalu (e.g. short term advisers to support Acting Commissioner, prosecutions, community policing), and Tokelau (consultation visit to be made to decide what type of assistance is appropriate). There may also be assistance to Vanuatu (community policing) but this will be assessed and a report written before any decision is made). Some assistance to Niue and Samoa will be provided in the first year through Pacific regional activities and participation in the supervisory skills course. Training and support activities will include prosecutions, youth, alcohol, road safety, operational emergency response, community policing.	Phase two: Pacific
Afghanistan National Police Training	To support development of an effective policing force in Bamyan province through the mentoring of senior Afghanistan National Police (ANP) at provincial and district levels and training of ANP recruits at the Bamyan Regional Training Centre (RTC) by NZ Police operating under an European Police (EuPol) mandate.	Phase one: post-conflict and/or fragile states
Bougainville Community Policing Project	Aim is for a strengthened Bougainville Police Service that has the capacity to operate sustainably as an effective community policing agency achieved by strengthening management and operational capacity and integrating Community Auxiliary Police into BPS. Approx 14 NZ police per year on 6-month deployments	Both phases
RAMSI	Supports the development of an effective national policing service. The focus of the programme is on transitioning from operational support to solely capacity development. NZ Police has up to 25 staff serving in the RAMSI Participating Police Force on 6-month deployments. Senior officers are also seconded long-term to the Solomon Islands Police Force, including the Police Commissioner.	Both phases

Regional Pacific Prevention of Domestic Violence Programme	5-year programme to build the capacity of participating PIC police forces to effectively address prevention, and response to domestic violence	Phase two: Pacific
Pacific Island Chiefs of Police Secretariat	Funds the PICP Secretariat to strengthen the capacity and effectiveness of the PICP Secretariat in supporting its members in their efforts to improve and maintain effective secretariat functions and advice for the PICP throughout the Pacific region	Phase two: Pacific
Timor-Leste New Zealand's Deployment of Police to UNMIT	Police officers mandated to participate in UNMIT and aims to strengthen community policing knowledge in the Policia Nacional de Timor Leste (PNTL); and generally build PNTL capacity and capability	Phase one: post-conflict and/or fragile states
Timor-Leste Bilateral Community Policing Programme	\$15m bilateral community policing project over four years to be implemented from the second half of 2011. Improve Timor-Leste Police's capacity to implement effective community policing	Phase one: post-conflict and/or fragile states
Tonga Police Development Programme	Tonga Police Development Programme is a trilateral (New Zealand, Australia, Government of Tonga) four year programme with the overarching goal of developing an effective Tonga Police Force which has the trust and confidence of the community. The Programme provides technical assistance and secondments, (including the appointment of a New Zealander to the position of Commander) and funding for legislative drafting and equipment and resource needs.	Phase two: Pacific
Cook Islands Police Programme	Three year programme of support to assist the Cook Islands Police Commissioner to implement the (116) recommendations of the 2006 review. The programme funded one full time seconded NZ police officer for the first two years. About 12 NZ Police advisors deliver training / technical assistance each year. Key additional activities for the third year include a senior NZ advisor to mentor	Phase two: Pacific

	the Commissioner, a wider leadership development programme, installation of a Radio Communication Network, and opportunities for police officers to receive appropriate training in NZ.	
West Papua/Papua	NZ Police and Indonesian Police conducted a Community Policing Training Pilot in West Papua and Papua (now completed). NZ	Both phases –
Community	provided funding under the Indonesia Conflict Prevention and Peace building facility for police officers from conflict areas to study	only to examine
Policing	in the Gadjah Madah University Masters of Peace and Conflict Resolution Programme and additional training/workshops on	the relevance
Programme	community policing. The next phase is yet to be designed.	

Annex B – Evaluation Questions and Terms of Reference Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

Appendix Four: Evaluation Team Composition, Roles, Functions and Competencies

The functions and required competencies for team membership and team leader role are identified in the tables below. The team leader role will be assigned to the most suited candidate (see competencies in table 4.1) selected from the community policing in development, law and justice or the evaluation expert roles. The team leader will be responsible for the <u>additional functions</u> identified in table 4.1.

Table 4.1: Team Leader Role

Role	Functions	Required Competencies
Team leader	Responsible for the delivery of the evaluation and managing	Excellent team leadership skills
	the contributions of team members	Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills
Note: not a separate	Primarily responsible for managing relationships within the	Excellent relationship management skills
role but assigned to	team and with stakeholders	Excellent communication skills
a team member		Proficient knowledge of evaluation design, implementation and reporting
(refer table 4.2)		Excellent report writing and information dissemination skills

Table 4.2: Evaluation Team Membership, Functions and Required Competencies

Roles	Functions	Required Competencies
Law and justice expert	Contribute a broad law and justice perspective to the evaluation design, and the evaluation reports (peerreview) Provide peer-review of the background study and research paper, including the case studies Contribute to the evaluation and research design Contribute to data collection and analysis Provide summary information for the evaluation reports Peer-review the evaluation reports	Excellent and in-depth knowledge of a law and justice sector development interventions Excellent strategic analysis, including with regards to international security Strong technical analysis skills Ability to provide constructive peer-review and make practical suggestions Strong written skills
Community policing in development expert (including fragile states)	Lead and write background study and research paper, including the case studies Contribute to the evaluation and research design Contribute to data collection and analysis	Strong relationship management skills Strong communication skills Extensive and in-depth knowledge of community policing in a development context Proficient knowledge of community policing in post-conflict and/or fragile states

Annex B – Evaluation Questions and Terms of Reference Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

	Provide summary information for the reporting outputs Peer-review the evaluation reports	Excellent technical analysis skills, including case study research Excellent report writing, including in an academic environment, and information dissemination skills Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills Strong gender analysis skills
Evaluation expert	Design the research and evaluation Lead the development or redevelopment of results frameworks for each intervention within scope Work with key stakeholders to ensure frameworks are appropriate for the evaluation reports and research paper, and ongoing intervention monitoring and reporting Develop evaluative tools Contribute to data collection Lead the data analysis, including providing summary information for the reporting outputs Lead the writing of the evaluation reports Peer-review written content for the back ground study and research paper (not authored)	Strong relationship management skills Excellent evaluation design, data collection, implementation, analysis and reporting skills Excellent results framework (programme or intervention logic) design and implementation skills Ability to represent complex interventions within simple, clear and logical diagrammatic and tabular forms Proven ability to develop results frameworks that are appropriate using in evaluations and for implementing for monitoring and reporting Strong skills in assessing (and design) for value for money Excellent report writing and information dissemination skills Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills Strong ability to design evaluations to incorporate gender analysis Strong gender analysis skills
Research assistant	Collate relevant literature for the background study, research paper and the evaluation reports Manage (in conjunction with Posts) fieldwork schedules Assist with primary data collection and analysis	Good development research skills (design, data collection, literature searching, fieldwork), including case study research Experience in development research fieldwork Good organisational skills Strong team work skills

Annex B – Evaluation Questions and Terms of Reference Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

Table 4.3: Evaluation Team Support Role (Functions and Competencies)

Role	Functions	Required Competencies
Governance / and	Peer-review and comment on the evaluation and research	Extensive and in-depth knowledge of governance and capacity development
Capacity Development	design (plan and results frameworks)	(preferably in law and justice or security fields) in the development context
expert	Peer-review and comment on the draft research paper	Ability to give clear and actionable feedback in an appropriate way
	(not authored) and evaluation reports	

ADDENDUM

Introduction

1. This document details changes to the terms of reference for the evaluation and research of the Police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme (document number 2607704). With the exception of the details listed herein, all requirements identified in the terms of reference remain the same.

Deliverables and deadlines

The work will still be spread over two financial years (FY2011-12 and FY2012-13), however instead of the post-conflict, fragile states work being completed in FY2011-12 and Pacific work in FY2012-13, these deliverables will now be swapped to align with team availability (see table below for dates). The background study and evaluation and research plan will still be delivered in FY2011-12 before any fieldwork begins.

The required deliverables and deadlines are:

Outputs / deliverables	Indicative Dates (NZT)
Phase one, FY 2011-12 – Work in	n the Pacific
Background study	Submitted & accepted as a final document by 30 March 2012
Evaluation and research plan	Draft - 24 March 2012 Final – 5 April 2012
Fieldwork in Tonga, Cook Islands, PNG and Solomon Islands (if and as needed)	April – May 2012
Evaluation report on police work in the Pacific	Draft – 20 June 2012 Final – 6 July 2012
Phase two, FY 2012-13 – Work in	n Post conflict fragile states
Additional fieldwork in Afghanistan and Timor-Leste	July-August 2012
Evaluation report on police work in the post conflict fragile states	Draft - 24 August 2012 Final – 7 September 2012
Research paper	Draft – 1 September 2012 Final – 15 October 2012
Dissemination event/s	30 November 2012

Annex B – Evaluation Questions and Terms of Reference Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

Roles, Functions and Competencies

The revised functions and required competencies are are:

Roles	Functions	Required Competencies
Team leader	Responsible for the delivery of the evaluation and managing	Excellent team leadership skills
	the contributions of team members	Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills
And	Primarily responsible for managing relationships within the	Excellent relationship management skills
Allu	team and with stakeholders	Excellent communication skills
	PNG, Solomon Islands, Tonga, Cook Islands and Timor-Leste:	Proficient knowledge of evaluation design, implementation and reporting
	data collection, prepare summary notes and analysis	Excellent report writing and information dissemination skills
Law and justice	Contribute a broad law and justice perspective to all aspects	Excellent and in-depth knowledge of a law and justice sector development
expert	of the evaluations and research	interventions
	Primary (first) author of the background study and both	Excellent strategic analysis
	evaluation reports	Strong technical analysis skills
	Contributing (second) author of the evaluation and research	Ability to provide constructive peer-review and make practical suggestions
	plan and research paper	Strong written skills
	Lead dissemination of the evaluation results	Excellent gender analysis skills
	Contribute to (peer-review) result frameworks	
	Contribute to analysis of all data collected	
Post conflict, fragile	Contribute a post conflict, fragile state perspective to all	Strong relationship management skills
state expert	deliverables (focusing on the post conflict fragile state	Strong communication skills
	deliverables) and a strategic perspective on the Pacific	Excellent knowledge of development work in a post conflict and/or fragile state
	deliverables	environment, including in the law and justice sector
	Primary (first) author of the research paper	Proficient knowledge of evaluation and research design
	Contribute to (peer review) background study, evaluation	Proficient technical analysis skills, including case study research
	and research plan, result frameworks, and the	Excellent strategic analysis, including with regards to international security
	evaluation reports on work in the Pacific and in post-	Strong report and note writing, and information dissemination skills

International community policing models, including in a development and post conflict fragile state context, to all aspects of the work Contributing author of the background study (second author) Contribute to (peer review) evaluation and research plan, result frameworks, both evaluation reports and the research paper Contribute to fieldwork in PNG, Solomon Islands, Tonga and Timor-Leste: data collection, prepare summary notes (analysis and interim findings) Policing expert — Pacific Contribute to (peer review) background study, evaluation and research plan, result frameworks (additional input into the Pacific interventions), both evaluation reports and the research paper Contribute to fieldwork in PNG, Solomon Islands, Tonga and Timor-Leste: data collection, prepare summary notes (analysis and interim findings) Strong communication skills Extensive and in-depth knowledge of community policing in post-conflict and/or fragile state proficient technical analysis skills Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills Strong communication skills Strong relationship management skills Strong communication skills Extensive and in-depth knowledge of community policing in post-conflict and/or fragile state proficient technical analysis skills Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills Proficient report and note writing skills Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills Strong team w		-	
International community policing models, including in a development and post conflict fragile state context, to all aspects of the work Contributing author of the background study (second author) Contribute to (peer review) evaluation and research plan, result frameworks, both evaluation reports and the research paper Contribute to fieldwork in PNG, Solomon Islands, Tonga and Timor-Leste: data collection, prepare summary notes (analysis and interim findings) Policing expert – Pacific Contribute to (peer review) background study, evaluation and research plan, result frameworks (additional input into the Pacific interventions), both evaluation reports and the research paper Contribute to fieldwork in PNG, Solomon Islands, Tonga and and experience of the New Zealand and other models of community police in the Pacific to all aspects of the work Contribute to (peer review) background study, evaluation and research plan, result frameworks (additional input into the Pacific interventions), both evaluation reports and the research paper Contribute to fieldwork in PNG, Solomon Islands, Tonga and Timor-Leste: data collection, prepare summary notes (analysis and interim findings) Strong communication skills Extensive and in-depth knowledge of community policing in post-conflict and/or fragile state Proficient report and note writing skills Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills Some knowledge gender analysis preferred Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills Some knowledge gender analysis preferred		Contribute a strategic perspective (summary notes and analysis) to the assessment of work in the Pacific Lead fieldwork in Afghanistan including data collection,	_ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Pacific and other models of community police in the Pacific to all aspects of the work Contribute to (peer review) background study, evaluation and research plan, result frameworks (additional input into the Pacific interventions), both evaluation reports and the research paper Contribute to fieldwork in PNG, Solomon Islands, Tonga and Timor-Leste: data collection, prepare summary notes (analysis and interim findings) Strong communication skills Extensive and in-depth knowledge of community policing including in a Pacific context Proficient technical analysis skills Proficient report and note writing skills Strong communication skills Extensive and in-depth knowledge of community policing including in a Pacific context Proficient technical analysis skills Strong communication skills Extensive and in-depth knowledge of community policing including in a Pacific context Proficient report and note writing skills Strong communication skills	Policing expert – International	community policing models, including in a development and post conflict fragile state context, to all aspects of the work Contributing author of the background study (second author) Contribute to (peer review) evaluation and research plan, result frameworks, both evaluation reports and the research paper Contribute to fieldwork in PNG, Solomon Islands, Tonga and Timor-Leste: data collection, prepare summary notes	Strong communication skills Extensive and in-depth knowledge of community policing including an international development context Proficient knowledge of community policing in post-conflict and/or fragile states Proficient technical analysis skills Proficient report and note writing skills Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills
Evaluation expert Lead the design of the work Strong relationship management skills	Policing expert – Pacific	and other models of community police in the Pacific to all aspects of the work Contribute to (peer review) background study, evaluation and research plan, result frameworks (additional input into the Pacific interventions), both evaluation reports and the research paper Contribute to fieldwork in PNG, Solomon Islands, Tonga and Timor-Leste: data collection, prepare summary notes	Strong communication skills Extensive and in-depth knowledge of community policing including in a Pacific context Proficient technical analysis skills Proficient report and note writing skills Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills
	Evaluation expert	Lead the design of the work	Strong relationship management skills

	Primary (first) author of the evaluation and research plan Develop evaluative tools Lead and author (first author) the development or redevelopment of result frameworks Work with key stakeholders to ensure frameworks are appropriate for the evaluation reports and research paper, and on-going intervention monitoring and	Excellent evaluation design, data collection, implementation, analysis and reporting skills Excellent results framework (programme or intervention logic) design and implementation skills Ability to represent complex interventions within simple, clear and logical diagrammatic and tabular forms Proven ability to develop results frameworks that are appropriate using in
	Pacific Contribute to (peer review) the background study, evaluation report and research paper on post conflict	evaluations and for implementing for monitoring and reporting Strong skills in assessing (and design) for value for money Proficient report writing and information dissemination skills Strong team work and consensus decision-making skills Strong ability to design evaluations to incorporate gender analysis Proficient gender analysis skills
Research assistant (non-traveling)	Collate relevant literature for the background study, research paper and the evaluation reports Assist with secondary data collection and analysis, if necessary	Good development research skills (design, data collection, literature searching, fieldwork), including case study research Experience in development research fieldwork Good organisational skills Strong team work skills

ANNEX C – CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR POLICING

Introduction

This annex provides a brief explanation of each of the five aspects of *policing* discussed in the conceptual framework in chapter 2 of the evaluation report, together with a discussion of the overarching issue of the legitimacy of the state and of the police as the public face of the state. The annex ends with a discussion of the assumptions underlying the programme goals and outcomes.

The five aspects of policing

The five aspects of policing in the conceptual framework for police work developed for this evaluation are:

- (i) Police mandate (relationship with polity/ society as a whole)
- (ii) The police as an organisation
- (iii) Relationship between the police and communities
- (iv) Relationship between the police and the formal criminal justice system
- (v) Relationship between the police and non-state dispute resolution mechanisms

This thrust of most interventions was on the police as an organisation - to build or develop the capacity of partner countries' police. The technical capacity of the police, as an organisation, was seen as central to achieving the over-arching goal of MFAT funded police work - *safe and secure communities*.²³ But as is discussed in chapter 2, this work needs to be contextualised within the broader governance and institutional arrangements for policing in each country (aspects (i), (iii), (iv) and (v)). These have evolved over time: they have been shaped by historical factors including events and approaches from previous (traditional and colonial) regimes. In some cases they have been influenced by conflicts and the way these conflicts were resolved. In developing countries, these arrangements are often tenuous, and the police frequently have to enforce the rule of law within a contested and inconsistent set of institutional arrangements, layered on top of previous institutional arrangements and accommodating different interests and interest groups.

(i) Police mandate (relationship with polity/ society as a whole)

Policing is the enforcement of collective choices - the political mandate for which emanates from society as a whole and is, ideally, articulated in law. The evaluation therefore considers the *legality* of the police in the different contexts in which New Zealand police work took place. This involves considering the extent to which the legal instruments were in place to allow the police to function, and also political decisions taken to provide the police with operational resources (funds and human resources). In addition, the evaluation considers the development of governance structures to promote greater civilian oversight and political responsibility for policing. These structures seek to ensure that the police are not disembodied from society or seen as an enforcement agency of the state. Their precise nature should be tailored to local circumstances: they may include new

²³ As discussed in chapter 1, *building safe and secure communities* is now one of MFAT's four priority themes for its aid programme, supporting the core focus of *sustainable economic development*

Annex C – Conceptual Framework for Policing Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

institutional arrangements (e.g. accountability to local authorities) and associated mechanisms (funding, human resources, etc).

The evaluation assesses the extent to which New Zealand funded interventions have addressed the need for appropriate legal and governance arrangements for policing.

(ii) Police

The development of the technical capacity of the police is the entry point for most of New Zealand's assistance to policing. In particular, much of New Zealand's support has focused on supporting partner police forces to develop a *community policing* approach, discussed in section 3 below.

New Zealand has provided some infrastructure, equipment and logistical support to partner police forces, but most assistance has addressed two levels of capacity development:

- Organisational development: This relates to the structure and functioning of the police within
 the wider policing function. Organisational development focuses on the internal capacity of the
 police (including values, systems, staffing, strategies and leadership) to perform their roles and
 mandates within a given institutional context;
- Individual skills development: This relates to the skills of individuals within an organisation to
 perform to a high level within set standards. The capacity of an organisation depends not just on
 systems and strategies, but on these individual skills,

The evaluation assesses the extent to which support has been provided at both these levels.

(iii) Relationship between the police and communities

As mentioned in section (ii) above, much of New Zealand's police work in developing countries has focused on a *community policing* approach. This involves not only supporting the technical capability of the police, but also on building the relationship between the police and communities (communities are likely to comprise a multiplicity of different groups with different power relationships). Community policing is discussed in more detail later in this annex.

The evaluation considers the extent to which New Zealand's police work has strengthened the relationship between the police and communities. This relationship is multi-faceted: the police need to be aware of communities' interests and concerns, and also to work with them to obtain intelligence. Communities need to be reassured of a police presence and capacity. The nature of this relationship is determined by the social and political context, and also by the existence and effectiveness of alternative, non state security and justice systems (discussed in section (iv) below).

The promotion of community - police relations may require both a reorientation of police attitudes, and the construction of new social institutions, such as police community committees through which the police and community can engage with each other. The formation of these new structures may be instigated through other social organisations, such as non-governmental organisations, rather than by the police.

The evaluation assesses the extent to which mechanisms are in place to enable strong police community linkages.

(iv) Relationship between the police and the formal criminal justice system

The police are the entry point to the formal criminal justice system. For the goal of safe and secure communities to be realised, the police need to be understood as part of the criminal justice chain (see diagram below). This does not imply that New Zealand should necessarily engage with the whole spectrum of criminal justice reform,²⁴ but it does suggest that: New Zealand police work should be undertaken in cognisance of the partner country's police's role in the criminal justice system; that linkages should be made with criminal justice reform processes being undertaken in the partner country (which may be supported by other donors); and that engagement with the police work will have limited impact if the rest of the criminal justice system remains dysfunctional. Common problems reported in the system, particularly in fragile and conflict affected situations, include poor investigations and case management and backlogs of cases. Processing a case through the criminal justice system involves complex interactions between the different actors. A weakness in one organisation will impact on the performance of another: files and documents can be lost or delayed; court cases can be delayed by the prison service failing to transport a prisoner to court for a hearing, or by the police prosecutor failing to prepare a case for trial.



The evaluation assesses the links between the police and the wider criminal justice system.

(v) Relationship between the police and non-state dispute resolution mechanisms

The evaluation considers police work in the context of non-state dispute resolution mechanisms and systems. Legal pluralism is the norm in most countries: most disputes and conflicts do not end up in the formal justice system. In developing countries, non-state dispute resolution systems (such as traditional, religious or social mechanisms) may have greater legitimacy than the formal legal system, having stood the test of time, and viewed as relevant and accessible.

The form of the relationship between state and non-state systems may depend on the nature and preferences of communities and also on the resources available for formal police work. In some situations it may be appropriate for policing to be undertaken in partnership with non-state bodies. In other situations, non-state systems may be less relevant and more formal legal systems may be required - for example in urban areas or in situations of conflict related to external extraction of natural resources or minerals.

Policing is a means to enforce collective choices, which in the Pacific, as elsewhere, are determined through political, traditional and social structures and articulated in law, customary practice, religious canon and social practice. As a result, policing is exercised in the context and presence of other, non-state, forms of enforcement which may, at times, assign different priorities and interpretations to those defined in formal law. The police are embedded in society, the community

²⁴ Such as AusAid's Law and Justice Programme in Papua New Guinea, which involved the provision at one stage of over 60 advisers throughout PNG's criminal justice institutions

and the criminal justice system. They are faced with and must 'resolve', in practice and on a daily basis, the tensions between the values of these systems and must do so in a fair and impartial manner.

As discussed below, particularly in fragile and conflict affected situations, the legitimacy of the state and security providers may be contested and, in these cases, the legitimacy of the state may be associated with how the formal and informal start to come together to meet the concerns and needs of communities.

The evaluation assesses the extent to which the institutional and governance arrangements as well as approach and operations of the police are linked to non-state dispute resolution systems.

Legitimacy of the state and of the police

Cutting across all the governance and institutional arrangements discussed above is the issue of the *legitimacy* of the police- the extent to which the state and its legal instruments are recognised as legitimate by communities and citizens. In mature democracies, such as New Zealand, the state is seen as the agent of society, managed by the state, but serving the interests of society as whole and ultimately accountable to society as whole. The legitimacy of the police is generally recognised by a substantial majority of citizens. But in developing countries, particularly in fragile and conflict affected situations where the political settlement may be contested, this assumption does not hold. In these situations, strengthening police capacity may be seen as supporting an illegitimate regime, or siding with a particular community or elite. Conversely, the cessation of conflict and manner in which regular policing is introduced or re-established can contribute to enhancing the legitimacy of the state. The approach taken by the police to policing will contribute to shaping the nature of society and the social contract between rulers and ruled.

The tenuous nature of the relationship between the state and society seen in fragile and conflict affected states, may continue long after an initial political settlement has secured the cessation of violence and prior to the emergence of a new social contract. As a result, policing in conflict affected situations must operate in a difficult 'grey area', supporting the rule of law (formal, legal) but without an assured sense of social or political legitimacy. In the immediate period following conflict and political breakdown, the mandate for external intervention is based on international or regional agreements, and may be exercised through external agencies such as RAMSI in the Solomon Islands. Almost immediately following and sometimes, as in the case of the Bougainville Peace Agreement, as part of the political settlement, a national mandate for policing must be established.

Since the political settlement is essentially obtained by agreement between leaders and elites, the role of the police may be ill-defined and without a widespread sense of legitimacy. Further, if the police have themselves engaged in communal conflict, there may be little trust in the neutrality and independence of the police. The gap between the state and society is exacerbated when communal divisions are reflected within the police structure. The problem of establishing both a legal mandate and widespread legitimacy may be compounded by the tenuous nature of the state – for example in Melanesia where local (communal) identities are seen as more important than a national one.²⁵

125

²⁵ See: Greener. B, 2011 'Investigating the peacebuilding projects in the Pacific: The experience of Solomon Islands and Timor Leste; and Fukuyama. F 2008 'State building in Solomon Islands', *Pacific Economic Bulletin* 23(3), 18–34

Annex C – Conceptual Framework for Policing
Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011
Pacific regional report

Police legitimacy can be supported by the development of effective governance and institutional arrangements discussed in sections (i) - (v) above including: the development of structures to promote greater civilian oversight and political responsibility for the police; the development of close relationships between the police and the community; and through the development of hybrid structures which build on non state (but perceived as legitimate) security and justice systems

Community policing

Community policing is the key philosophy which underpins New Zealand's approach to policing both at home and in their international work, and is therefore an integral part of the conceptual framework for policing. Community policing is understood by New Zealand Police in terms of ten key operational principles:²⁶

- 1. Communities are the focus of the New Zealand policing approach
- 2. By reducing crime and road trauma community policing improves safety and reassures the community
- 3. Police are visible, accessible and familiar to their community
- 4. Police listen to their community, jointly prioritise concerns and keep them informed;
- 5. Police provide opportunities for community participation;
- 6. Problems are identified and responded to on a local level with the support of area, district and national, when required;
- 7. Police engage other government, non-government and community groups in problem solving partnerships;
- 8. Flexibility with accountability for achieving local community outcomes is emphasised;
- 9. Community policing requires an integrated intelligence-led approach
- 10. Community policing is the responsibility of all police staff irrespective of role or rank.

These principles apply across the New Zealand Police and impact on police structure, organisation, culture and practices. They flow from the democratic model of policing developed by the founder of modern policing, Sir Robert Peel.²⁷ The table below aligns Peel's basic principles of policing developed in 1829, with New Zealand's principles for community policing. New Zealand Police principles assume these 'foundational' precepts, and emphasise the community relations implications of them.

²⁶ New Zealand Police Evaluation Team September 2008: *Community Policing: An International Literature Review (page 16)*²⁷ Peel's vision was informed by events in Manchester, England of 1819 (popularly known as the Peterloo Massacre) when military dragoons - heavy cavalry - were ordered by local magistrates to disperse a peaceful assembly of working people who were gathered to listen to an orator demanding rights for workers in the rapidly developing cotton industry. People were killed and hundreds wounded through the action of the dragoons. In response, Peel, as the Home Secretary, persuaded Parliament to legislate for a civilian led non-military police that would police by consent.

Peel's 1829 nine principles of policing aligned with New Zealand's community policing principles

Peel's nine principles of policing	Principles that guide community policing in New Zealand
1. To prevent crime and disorder, as an alternative to their repression by military force and severity of legal punishment.	Communities are the focus of the New Zealand policing approach
2. To recognise always that the power of the police to fulfil their functions and duties is dependent on public approval of their existence, actions and behaviour and on their ability to secure and maintain public respect.	By reducing crime and road trauma community policing improves safety and reassures the community
3. To recognise always that to secure and maintain the respect and approval of the public means also the securing of the willing cooperation of the public in the task of securing observance of laws.	3. Police are visible, accessible and familiar to their community
4. To recognise always that the extent to which the co-operation of the public can be secured diminishes proportionately the necessity of the use of physical force and compulsion for achieving police objectives.	4. Police listen to their community, jointly prioritise concerns and keep people informed
5. To seek and preserve public favour, not by pandering to public opinion; but by constantly demonstrating absolutely impartial service to law, in complete independence of policy, and without regard to the justice or injustice of the substance of individual laws, by ready offering of individual service and friendship to all members of the public without regard to their wealth or social standing, by ready exercise of courtesy and friendly good humour; and by ready offering of individual sacrifice in protecting and preserving life.	5. Police provide opportunities for community participation
6. To use physical force only when the exercise of persuasion, advice and warning is found to be insufficient to obtain public co-operation to an extent necessary to secure observance of law or to restore order, and to use only the minimum degree of physical force which is necessary on any particular occasion for achieving a police objective.	6. Problems are identified and responded to on a local level with the support of area, district and national resources, when required
7. To maintain at all times a relationship with the public that gives reality to the historic tradition that the police are the public and that the public are the police, the police being only members of the public who are paid to give full time attention to duties which are incumbent on every citizen in the interests of community welfare and existence.	7. Police engage other government, non- government and community groups in problem solving partnerships
8. To recognise always the need for strict adherence to police-executive functions, and to refrain from even seeming to usurp the powers of the judiciary of avenging individuals or the State, and of authoritatively judging guilt and punishing the guilty.	8. Flexibility with accountability for achieving local community outcomes is emphasised
9. To recognise always that the test of police efficiency is the absence of crime and disorder, and not the visible evidence of police action in dealing with them.	9. Community policing requires an integrated intelligence-led approach 10. Community policing is the responsibility of all police staff irrespective of role or rank

In view of their common heritage, it is not surprising that very similar principles of policing to New Zealand's are found in other mature democracies including, for example, Australia and the UK. In all these jurisdictions it is well accepted that community policing, properly understood is a 'whole of policing' approach, mainstreamed throughout the organisation, rather than a *niche* activity. The methodology of creating a group that encourages good community relations whilst the remainder of

Annex C – Conceptual Framework for Policing Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

the police get on with 'real' policing was criticised in the signal 1981 UK Scarman Report,²⁸ and the need for a *whole of policing* approach to community policing has subsequently been noted extensively in the literature.²⁹ Mainstreaming community policing implies that it must be embedded within the police's philosophy, legislative framework, organisational structure, concept of operations, management policy, and operational strategy.³⁰

The practical outworking of the principles of community policy varies not only between countries, but also within different areas of New Zealand (urban/ rural; prosperous / less prosperous). For example in some areas (such as Wellington) community policing is undertaken through designated community police officers assigned to particular areas, with a centralised response team. In others (such as South Auckland) holistic neighbourhood policing teams have been established, which include a response capability.³¹

A context specific approach to policing, and recognition that there is 'no one ideal uniform model' for police reform³² is particularly important in developing countries. The literature recognises that *all too often international experts have attempted to introduce solutions, which mirror their own country, and more often than not are met by cultural resistance and lack of sustainable success.*³³ There is growing recognition that there is a need to develop bottom up, locally owned and locally appropriate solutions³⁴ - what the World Development Report 2011 has termed a 'best fit' approach (in contrast to a 'best practice' approach).³⁵

Key aspects of developing country contexts which need to be taken into account when undertaking police work in accordance with community policing principles are (1) that the legitimacy of the state, and the police as the public face of the state should not be assumed (see discussion in section (vi) above); (2) that the police may be operating within a dysfunctional criminal justice system (see discussion in section (iv) above); and (3) that it may be informal, non state systems of policing that are considered by communities to have more legitimacy than the formal police force (see discussion in section (v) above).

⁻

²⁸ The Brixton Disorders: 10-12 April 1981. A Report of an Enquiry by the Right Honourable The Lord Scarman. 25 November 1981.

²⁹ See for example: SEESAC, UNDP Stability Pact, Saferworld, 2006, Philosophy and Principles of Community Based Policing (3rd edition), South Eastern and Eastern Europe Clearinghouse for the Control of Small Arms and Light Weapons, Belgrade, p3; Zwane, P., 1994, The Need for Community Policing, African Defence Review Issue No 18; Community Policing: Variations on the Western Model in the Developing World. Robert C Davies *et al.* Police Research and Practice Vol. 4 No.3.

³⁰ SEESAC, UNDP Stability Pact, Saferworld, 2006, Philosophy and Principles of Community Based Policing (3rd edition), South Eastern and Eastern Europe Clearinghouse for the Control of Small Arms and Light Weapons, Belgrade

³¹ Thirty such units are already operational, with a further fifty planned.

Robert C. Davis, Nicole J. Henderson, and Cybele Merrick,. Community Policing: Variations on the Western Model in the Developing World, Police Practice and Research, Vol. 4, No.4, 2003. pp 285-300.

³³ See, for example, Biddle, K., Police Reform Within a Security Sector Wide Framework. Baker, B., 2010, Sierra Leone Police Reform: the role of the UK government, Prepared for the GRIPS State-Building Workshop 2010: Organizing Police Forces in Post-Conflict Peace-Support Operations, January 27-28th, 2010; Baker, B., 2007, 'Post-War Policing by Communities in Sierra Leone, Liberia, Rwanda', Democracy and Security, 3, 2, 215-36

³⁴ See for example: Groenewald, H. and Peake, G., 2004, Police Reform Through Community-Based Policing: Philosophy and Guidelines for Implementation, International Peace Academy/Saferworld, New York; SEESAC, UNDP Stability Pact, Saferworld, 2006, Philosophy and Principles of Community Based Policing (3rd edition), South Eastern and Eastern Europe Clearinghouse for the Control of Small Arms and Light Weapons, Belgrade; and

 $^{^{}m 35}$ A fuller discussion of these issues can be found in the Background Paper for this evaluation, 28 March 2012

Assumptions linking programme outcomes to goal

Table 2.1 in chapter 2 of the evaluation report sets out the overarching goal and intended outcomes of New Zealand's police work. There are a number of key assumptions underlying the results diagram from which this summary was drawn.

Development assumptions, relating to the extent to which the long term outcomes will contribute to the goal of safe and secure communities:

- There is a sufficient sense of polity/national society to enable the police to enforce national laws. In many of the countries in the region, there is only a weak sense of national identity as evidenced by widespread and persistent inter-communal conflicts. As a result, national laws, especially those relating to issues that affect community identity, rights and resources (land and minerals) are contested or rejected. The role of the police as both the agent and face of the state requires balancing of both community and national interests.
- The promulgation of law and the allocation of rights is widely seen as just and fair. For example, in several countries of the region, there is a strong sense in many communities that the granting of licences for minerals and natural resources by national authorities is untransparent and unfair, and the benefits are not realised locally. This sense of exploitation, associated with communal tensions, underlies many of the problems causing breakdown of law and order that lead to police intervention.
- National policy and policy mechanisms contribute to an environment supportive of community policing. For example, in several countries of the region, public financial management policies (such as direct funding to elected representatives) promote a sense of 'buying off' of local interests and, more generally, encourage both rent seeking and violence (gangs and warlordism) neither of which is conducive to consensual community policing.
- Community policing as a concept is sufficiently adapted to the social and political context of the countries in the region to make an effective contribution to the goal. The community policing approach has evolved under democratic conditions within a framework of national laws and effective enforcement which reinforces the widespread legitimacy of the approach. Where these conditions are not currently in place, the approach will need to be adapted and/or support provided to establishing a nationally appropriate framework.
- The substance of traditional and other non-state systems of dispute resolution are consistent with legal systems of justice and therefore can work together satisfactorily. Where this assumption does not hold true, there is a need to support the adjustment/evolution of one or both systems in order to ensure enforcement of a comprehensive set of social rules.

Implementation assumptions, relating to the extent to which the interventions are managed and designed to achieve the outcomes:

Interventions are designed in the context of all five outcome areas (the five aspects of the conceptual framework described in Chapter 2) and reflect the results required to achieve the goal. Achievement of the programme goal requires progress on all five outcome areas. This implies that in the design and implementation of interventions, the New Zealand Aid programme should consider and ensure that all five outcome areas are addressed. All five areas do not need

to be addressed by New Zealand Police or even by the New Zealand Aid programme but, without securing progress on each outcome area, progress in building police capacity will be neither effective or sustainable.

- Interventions are managed in a joined up, flexible and responsive manner. The results diagram suggests a linear process, whereby interventions proceed from short term to long term outcomes. However, improvements may not take place in this manner, and it is important to recognise the potential for setbacks and imperfections in the process especially in situations where the reform process may be contested, or overtaken by unforeseen events. Further, in many cases, interventions are implemented in partnership with other partners and stakeholders, requiring the agreement on the overall goal and the ability to be flexible and responsive within a partnership framework. The entry points and the extent to which interventions are required in each outcome area will depend not just on the context at the time of design, but on how it evolves over time. There may be critical interdependences between outcome streams, for example the existence of a mandate which provides sufficient resources for the police. As a result, it is assumed that active management of the programme will be based on a sound and on-going analysis of the political and economic situation throughout the life of the programme.
- Pre-conditions for development and capacity-building are in place. In fragile and conflict affected situations, the start of a development programme assumes sufficient stability to enable normal policing functions to be re-established. In practice, this process may take time, may be subject to resumption of hostilities, and may not be achieved uniformly across the country.
- **Exit/withdrawal strategies inform intervention timescales and scope of work.** Policing lies at the centre of national reconstruction and state-building. Given the history and extent of the political and social breakdown that pertains in conflict affected situations, the time required to address these issues and ensure safe and secure communities should not be underestimated. Likewise, given the important role of policing and the crowding out effect of relatively well-resourced international forces, the timing of withdrawal from operational peace-keeping to capacity development activities, and the switch from substitution to support must be carefully planned and executed.

_

³⁶ World Bank 2011. World Development Report: Conflict Security and Development. 2011, Chapter 3 p103

ANNEX D - LIST OF DATA SOURCES

People consulted

Wellington

MFAT New Zealand Aid programme

- members of senior management team
- directors, deputy directors, development managers, officers, and advisers
- advisers evaluation and cross-cutting issues

MFAT regional divisions

- range of staff covering evaluation focus countries

New Zealand Police (headquarters)

- members of senior management team
- International Services Group
- Executive Director PPDVP
- returned deployed staff
- deployed staff on home leave (by phone)
- Contingent commander, Timor Leste
- Community policing experts
- PhD and Masters police staff

Pacific Islands Chiefs of Police Secretariat

- Secretariat staff
- Project manager officers

Cook Islands

- High Commission
- New Zealand Aid programme staff
- Cook Islands Police Service
- Maritime police
- Emergency management team
- Private sector lawyer
- Judiciary
- NGOs
- National Council of Women
- Cultural representatives (Koutu Nui)
- Members of the opposition and former senior civil servant
- Key government ministers
- Key government ministries Internal Affairs (responsible for gender and human rights); Police; Justice; Crown Law Office; Finance
- Australian Federal Police

- Deployed and formally deployed New Zealand police

Papua New Guinea (Bougainville)

Bougainville

- New Zealand Police (and police officer from Vanuatu deployed to the project)
- Bougainville Police Service (commander, regional commanders and officers)
- Members of the Community Auxiliary Police
- Law and Justice Programme
- Autonomous Bougainville Government (Divisions of Justice, Police Services)
- Magistrates
- NGOs / women's refuge/women's development
- UNDP/World Vision
- Ausaid
- Law and Justice Programme

Port Moresby

- High Commission
- New Zealand Aid Manager
- other donor representatives (JICA and Ausaid)
- Law and Justice Programme
- National Security Advisory Committee Secretariat
- Australia Federal Police
- Royal Papua New Guinea Police Constabulary
- Law and Justice Secretariat
- International NGO

Solomon Islands

Honiara

- High Commission
- New Zealand aid programme staff
- RAMSI
- Community representatives
- Royal Solomon Islands Police Force
- New Zealand police advisers
- NGOs and donor funded programmes (addressing gender, youth, sport, corruption, transparency)
- Media
- Church representative/ Melanesia Peace Centre
- Key government Ministries (Police, Corrections, Justice, Women, National Unity, Peace and Reconciliation)
- Experts (international consultants gender, social development, capacity development)

Gizzo

NZ Police

- Save the children
- Australian Federal Police
- Royal Solomon Islands Police Force
- NGOs
- Provincial Council member

Tonga (Nuku'alofa)

- NZ High Commission
- Australian High Commission
- Ministry of Police, Prisons and Fire services
- Tonga Police staff
- Government of Tonga key officials
- District and Town Officers
- Ministry of Finance (Budget and Fiscal Department)
- Church leader
- NZ Police Advisers
- NZ Police contingent commander
- AFP
- Elected district officer, community services
- Town officer for village
- Australian High Commission

'Eua

- Police officers
- district and town officers
- fire service personnel
- members of the community; male and female

Home base

Experts and academics (by phone / e-mail)

Bibliography

1. NZ Aid Intervention documents

Partnership for Pacific Policing ('3P')

Partnership for Pacific Policing: Performance Framework (undated)

Ministerial Submission, 14 July 2010

Ministerial Submission, 5 November 2010

Ministerial Submission, 12 November 2010

Ministerial Submission, 29 July 2011

Summary of Progress and Developments, January 2012

One Year Monitoring Report 2011

Gender Guidance, August 2011

Status Update, 31 August 2011

Samoa One Year Workplan (undated)

Tuvalu One Year Workplan (undated)

Amended workplan for extension to August 2012

Tokelau One Year workplan to 31 Jan 2012

Kirbati One Year workplan to 31 Jan 2012

Progress Report 31 January – 30 November 2011

MOU, January 2011

Email request to HOMs for feedback on 3P (undated)

Email Update, 15 Sept 11

Pacific Regional Policing Initiative

ToR Mid Term Review, 24 July – 11 August 2006

Papua New Guinea (Bougainville Community Policing Project)

Bougainville Peace Agreement, 30 August 2001

Project Design Document, March 2007

Sustainability Strategy Part 1 (undated)

ToRs Scoping Mission, April 2007

Review of Bougainville Community Police Project (Phase 4), 14 Dec 2009

NZ Aid PNG Country Programme Strategy, 2008-2018

BCPP (phase 4) M&E Framework, Nov 2008

CAPS operational; sustainability and transition plan, draft (undated)

PNG Law and Justice Sector: Provincial Engagement Evaluation Report Executive summary, Sept 2009

Workplan, 2009

BCPP Mid Term Review, July 2006

BPS Management Action Plans for North - Central and Southern Regions, Devolvement of CAP training from NZP to BPS management, 2008

Mid-term Development Strategy, 2010 – 2014

Development Partners Strategy for the Bougainville Law and Justice Sector Draft, 2008-2011

Bougainville Police Service, Bougainville Community Policing Strategy 2011 - 2015

Solomon Islands - RAMSI

Briefing for Deputy Director, July 2011

Minutes of Governance Meeting on NZP Contributions to RAMSI and RSIPF, 12 October 2011 Activity Monitoring Assessment, Aug 2011

Draft Independent Review of the RAMSI PPFs Capacity Development of RSIPF, February 2009

Draft Strategic Framework between NZAID and NZP, March 2009

MoU NZAID and NZP - RAMSI, April 2008

Partnership Framework between Solomon Islands Govt and RAMSI, April 2009

PPF Summary of Capacity Development - NZP Report to NZAID, June 08

RAMSI Annual Performance Report, 2010

RAMSI PPF Capacity Development Work Plan, 2008

ToR NZP Deployments to RAMSI PPF (undated)

Regional Pacific Prevention of Domestic Violence (PPDVP)

MOU (NZ Aid and NZ Police) 6 Oct 2006

Request for Dircetors variation, 4 October 2006

Letter of variation 1, 11 Dec 2006

Letter of variation 2, 11 July 2007

Letter of variation 3, 27 June 2008

Letter of variation 4, 13 February 2009

Letter of variation 6, 13 May 2012

Letter of variation 7, 13 May 2012

Bi-annual Rolling Work Plan, 2006/7-2007/8

MFAT feedback on annual report 2009/10

Annual Report 1 July 2007-30 June 2008

Annual Report 1 July 2009 - 30 June 2010

Activity Completion Report 2006-2011

Baseline Survey Report Cook Islands, 14 June 2007

Baseline Survey Report Kiribati, 14 June 2007

Baseline Survey Report Samoa, 14 June 2007

Baseline Survey Report Tonga, 14 June 2007

Baseline Survey Report Vanuatu, 10 Sept 2009

Update of Baseline In-Country Review Cook Islands, January 2011

Update of Baseline In-Country Review Samoa, January 2011

Update of Baseline In-Country Review Tonga, January 2011

Update of Baseline In-Country Review Kiribati, January 2011

PPDV Programme Design Document, August 2005

Annual Business Plan, 2008 - 2009

Annual Business Plan, 2009 - 2010

Annual Business Plan 2010 - 2011

Work Plan 2007 - 2008

Work Plan 2011-2012

PPDVP Management Team meeting notes, 20 March 2009

PPDVP Management Team meeting notes, 29 January 2009

Independent Evaluation Report July 2011

Programme Evaluation: Recommendations and Future Options (Report to PICP Conference) 17 Aug 2011

Update 10 August 2011 (report to PICP conference)

Pacific Island Chiefs of Police Secretariat (PICP)

Letter of Variation 2, 20 December 2007

Letter of Variation 4, 17 December 2008

Letter of Variation 6 (ambiguous date)

Letter of Variation 7, 23 December 2010

PICP Secretariat Improvement Roadmap, September 2011

MFAT Feedback on updated PICP Secretariat Business Plan 2011

MFAT Feedback on the PICP Women's Advisory Network (WAN) Project Progress Report, January – June 2010

NZAID comments on PICP Secretariat Future Directions in Pacific Policing Draft Strategy dated 9 August

Overall budget, 2005 - 2006

Six monthly progress report on the PICP Women's Advisory Network Project, July - Dec 2008

M&E Framework July- Dec 2009 (PICP Progress Report Annex D)

M&E Report, July-December 2009 (PICP Progress Report Annex B)

Stocktake report of the PCIP Secretariat, 14 August 2011

Project ToR PICP implementation planning, 11 October 2007

Project ToR PKO Post-Mission Management, 10 October 2008

Strategic Direction, 2009-2014

MFAT Feedback on PICP Secretariat Draft Business Plan for 2011

Future Directions in Pacific Policing Volume 1, Beyond 2010

Future Directions in Pacific Policing Volume 2, Ethics and Integrity reference material October 2007 Project Pacific Patrol Boat (undated)

Briefing Paper for Deputy Director on Next Steps for Funding PICP and PPDVP, 7 Sept 2011

Progress against M&E Framework, 1 February – 30 June 2011

Progress against budget, 1 February – 30 June 2011

Progress against business plan, 1 February – 30 June 2011

Progress Report January - June 2011

Activity Report 1 February – 31 July 2011

Activity Report, January - June 2010

Activity Monitoring Assessment, April 2011

Appraisal of activity for PICP Secretariat funding application for 2011, 6 December 2010

PICP Secretariat Business Plan, 2006 - 2007

PICP Secretariat Business Plan 2007 - 2008

PICP Secretariat Business Plan 2008-2009

PICP Secretariat Business Plan, 2010

PICP Budget and Business Plan 2011

PICP Secretariat Business Plan M&E Framework 2011

Police Armouries Project – update for 39th PICP Conference, 2010

PICP Beat Magazine, October 2011

Assessing Progress Report, 1 July - 31 Jan 2011

Note of PICP Secretariat and PPDVP meeting with AFP, 14 Oct 2011

PICP Job description - business planning and monitoring officer, 2008

PICP Secretariat, PAA update December 2010

PICP Secretariat Budget 2011/2012

Annual Conference Agenda, August 2011

Progress Report 1 Jan – 30 July 2010

Tonga Police Development Programme

MoU in relation to Tonga Police Development Programme 2008 – 2013 (undated)

Project Description (undated)

Report Joint Assessment Mission, 5 – 17 February 2007

Final Report: Joint Assessment Review of the Tonga Police Development Programme, 23 May - 6 June 2011

Activity Monitoring Assessment for Tonga Police Development Programme, 21 March 2011 Tonga Police Strategic Plan 2009-2013

Tonga Police Act 2010

Cotter, C. Tonga's Implementation of Community Policing: A review of progress, May 2011 Tonga Police Force M&E Framework June 2009

Tonga Police Briefing Paper for incoming Prime Minister and Ministers, December 2010 IN CONFIDENCE

Trilateral Mission schedule, 22 – 23 August 2007

Tonga Police National Consultation Report and Appendices, 8 August 2009

Tonga Police Action Planning Committee (TPAPC) Minutes, 28 January 2011

Tonga Police Action Planning Committee (TPAPC) Minutes, 9 February 2011

Tonga Police Action Planning Committee (TPAPC) Minutes, 9 March 2011

Tonga Police Action Planning Committee (TPAPC) Minutes, 7 April 2011

Tonga Police Action Planning Committee (TPAPC) Minutes, 31 May 2011

Tonga Police Action Planning Committee (TPAPC) Minutes, 11 August 2011

Tonga Police Action Planning Committee (TPAPC) Minutes, 8 September 2011

Tonga Police Action Planning Committee (TPAPC) Minutes, 22 November 2011

Tonga Police Action Planning Committee (TPAPC) Minutes, 12 December 2011

Tonga Police Training School Business Plan Activities 2010 - 2011

Tonga Police Code of Conduct, June 2010

Tonga Police Act 2010 - Implementation - Agreement of Roles, March 2011

Options for Future Law Reform in Tonga - Draft Discussion Paper, January 2011

Tonga Police 4 year Business Plan including Action Plan for 2009/10 and Major Milestones for 2010/11 and 2012/13

Terms of Reference for the Programme Management Committee 2008 - 2013

TPDP Monthly Status Report, August 2011

TPDP Monthly Status Report, December 2010

TPDP Monthly Status Report, February 2011

TPDP Monthly Status Report, January 2010

TPDP Monthly Status Report, November 2010

Cook Islands Police Programme

C&M Associates, Report to the Prime Minister of the Cook Islands on the Review of the National Police Department "The Robinson Report", 2006

Programme of Assistance, 2008-11

Review of Draft Programme Design by Cameron Cowan August 2007

Review of Draft Programme Design, Note for file, Julie Affleck, 18 December 2007

Status of NZAID-funded NZ Police programme of support to the Cook Islands National Police Department, October 2009

6 monthly progress report, 15 June 2011

MoU NZ Aid and NZ Police, 1 September 2008

Cook Islands Police Youth Technical Assistance Scoping Report, 2011

Letter of Variation 2, 23 November 2009

Letter of Variation 3, March 2010

Letter of Variation 4, 11 March 2010 Letter of Variation 5, 21 June 2010 Letter of Variation 6, 28 September 2010 Letter of Variation 7, June 2011 Letter of Variation 8, November 2011

Interim Report: Progress Against Revised Robinson Review Recommendations; Julia Jones, March 2011

Niue Chief of Police

Contract of employment: Chief of Police, 2009 PAA Niue: Administrative Assistance 2011-2014

Other NZ Aid documents

Bajraktari, Y., Boutellis, A., Gunja, F., Harris, D., Kapsis, J., Kaye, E., Rhee, J. The PRIME system: Measuring the Success of Post-Conflict Police Reform. Princeton University for UNPOL, Jan 2006 Summary of Country/ Programme specific interventions (Annex 1 – to?) (undated) Strengthening the Integration of Cross-cutting Issues into the New Zealand Aid Programme – 3 Year Strategy, 17 April 2012

Integrating Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment into an Activity, Programme or Policy. Gender Analysis Guideline, 2 February 2012.

Activity Planning Policy, 9 June 2011, updated 15 September 2011 Developing, Appraising and Approving an Activity: Guideline, 15 June 2011

2. Research Bibliography

Africa, S. (2011). The Transformation of the South African Security Sector: Lessons and Challenges. Geneva Centre for the Democratic Control of Armed Forces (DCAF), Geneva.

Africa, S. 2011. The transformation of the South Africa security sector: lessons and challenges. Geneva Centre for the Democratic Control of Armed Forces (DCAF) Policy Paper 33.

Amnesty International. 2003. The Democratic Republic of Timor-Leste: A new police service - a new beginning. London: Amnesty International Publications, 2003.

Asian Development Bank, Commonwealth Secretariat & Secretariat of the Pacific Islands Chiefs of Police. 2005. Pacific Islands Police Peacekeeping Operations: A Cost-Benefit Analysis. Report to the Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat. Pacific Studies Series. Towards a New Pacific Regionalism. Volume 3 Working Papers. Working Paper No. 12.

Australia New Zealand Policing Advisory Agency. Issues in Policing 2010.

Baker, B. (2005) Who do People Turn to for Policing in Sierra Leone? Journal of Contemporary African Studies, 23, 3: 371-390

Baker, B. (2007). Post-War Policing by Communities in Sierra Leone, Liberia, Rwanda. Democracy and Security, 3, 2, 215-36, p19

Baker, B. (2010). Non-state policing: expanding the scope of tackling African urban violence. Africa Security Brief no. 7 2010. African Centre for Strategic Studies.

Baker, B. (2010). Sierra Leone Police Reform: the role of the UK government. Prepared for the GRIPS State-Building Workshop 2010: Organizing Police Forces in Post-Conflict Peace-Support Operations, January 27-28th, 2010

Baker, B. 2010. Non-state policing: expanding the scope for tackling Africa's urban violence. Africa Security Brief no. 7, September 2010, Africa Centre for Strategic Studies.

Baser, H. (2007). Provision of Technical Assistance Personnel on the Solomon Islands: what can we learn from the RAMSI experience? Discussion Paper, no. 76 Maastricht: European Centre for Development Policy Management, September 2007.

Belo, Nelson de Sousa C. and Koenig, Mark. Everett, Silas. (Ed). 2011. Institutionalizing Community Policing in Timor Leste: Exploring the Politics of Police Reform. Asia Foundation. Occasional Paper no. 9. December 2011

Biddle, K. (2003). Police Reform Within a Security Sector Wide Framework: A working paper

Biddle, K. 2009. Review of Commonwealth of Australia Timor Leste Police Development Programme.

Boege V. (2010). How to maintain peace and security in a post conflict hybrid political order: The case of Bougainville. Journal of International Peacekeeping Volume 14, Numbers 3-4, September 2010, pp. 330-352(23)

Boege, Volker. (2010). Peacebuilding and state formation in post-conflict Bougainville Paper presented at the International Peace Research Association conference Sydney 6-10 July 2010 Peace and Development Commission.

Boswell, Bronwin. 2010. The Evolution of International Policing in the Pacific: A Critical Analysis. A thesis submitted to the Victoria University of Wellington in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in International Relations

Braithwaite, J. Dinnen, S. Allen, M et al. 2010. Pillars and Shadows: Peacebuilding as Statebuilding in Solomon Islands. ANU E Press

Charley, Joseph P Chris and McCormack, Freida I. 2011. Becoming and remaining a 'Force for Good': Reforming the police in post-conflict Sierra Leone. Institute of Development Studies, research report Vol 2011 no. 70

Cole, E., Shanahan, T. and Fluri, P. (2010) Enhancing Security Sector Governance in the Pacific Region. UNDP, PIFS, DCAF January 2010

Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

Commonwealth Human Rights Initiative. 2006. Strengthening democratic policing in the Commonwealth Pacific

Coquilhat, J. 2008. Community Policing: An international literature review. Evaluation Team Organisational Assurance New Zealand Police.

Cunningham, S. 2011. Formative evaluation of Neighbourhood Policing Teams, Interim report: Where did Neighbourhood Policing come from and what have we learnt so far about developing it in NZ? Origins and development of Neighbourhood Policing in NZ. Evaluation Services, Organisational Assurance Group, New Zealand Police.

DAC. 2005. Security system reform and governance. DAC guidelines and reference series. OECD

Danida. (2010). How to note on justice sector reform. Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Denmark

Danida. 2010. Justice Sector Reform. How to Note.

De Rover, C. 1998. To serve and to protect: Human rights and humanitarian law for police and security services. International Committee of the Red Cross, Geneva

De Sousa, N., Belo, C., Koenig, M R. 2011. Institutionalizing Community Policing in Timor-Leste: Exploring the Politics of Police Reform, (S.Everett, ed). The Asia Foundation, Occasional Paper No. 9

DeBlieck, S. 2007. The Critical Link: Community Policing Practices in Southeastern Europe. UNDP Albania/SSSR Programme, Albania

den Heyer, Garth. 2010. Evaluating Police Reform in Post-Conflict Nations: A Solomon Islands Case Study. International Journal of Comparative and Applied Criminal Justice, 34:1, 213-234

den Heyer, Garth. Civilian Police, post conflict reform 1999 – 2007. Washington DC, Police Foundation. (undated)

Department for International Development (DFID). (2009). Eliminating world poverty: Building our common future'. UK Government White Paper

Department for International Development (DFID). (2010). Building peaceful states and societies. DFID Practice Paper. UK

Dinnen, S and Haley, N. 2012 Evaluation of the Community Officer Project in the Solomon Islands. World Bank Justice for the Poor Research Report.

Dinnen, S and McLeod, A. 2009. Policing Melanesia - international expectations and local realities. Policing and Society, 19: 4, 333 — 353

Dinnen, S. 1993. Community Policing: Papua New Guinea. Criminology Australia 4, no. 3 January/February 1993

Dinnen, S. 2008. Dilemmas of Intervention and the building of state and nation. In Politics and State-building in the Solomon Islands (2011) Edited by Dinnen, S. and Firth, S. Asia-Pacific Press and ANU E Press

Dinnen, S. and Allen, M. 2012. Paradoxes of Postcolonial Police-Building: Solomon Islands (pre publication. Not for review)

Dinnen, S. and Braithwaite, J. 2008. Reinventing policing through the prism of the colonial kiap. Policing and Society

Dinnen, S. and Mcleod, A. (2008) The quest for integration: Australian approaches to security and development in the Pacific Islands. Security Challenges, Vol. 4, No. 2 (Winter 2008), pp. 23-43

Dinnen, S., Mcleod, A., Peake, G., 2006, Police Building in Weak States: Australian Approaches in Papua New Guinea and Solomon Islands, Civil Wars 8, no. 2: 87-108.

Donais, T. 2009. Inclusion or exclusion? Local ownership and security sector reform. Studies in Social Justice Volume 3, Issue 1, 117-131, 2009

Ellsberg, M et al. 2011. Violence Against Women in Melanesia and Timor-Leste: Progress made since the 2008 Office of Development Effectiveness report. AusAID and International Center for Research on Women.

Everett, S. (2009). Law and Justice in Timor Leste. A survey of citizens awareness and attitudes regarding law and justice. Asia Foundation 2008.

Everett, S. 2008. Law and justice in Timor-Leste: A survey of citizen awareness and attitudes

Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

regarding law and justice. Asia Foundation, AusAid, The Justice Facility

Finnegan, L., Hickson, C. and Rai, S. (eds.). (2008). Implementing Community-Based Policing in Kenya. Saferworld, London

Foreign and Commonwealth Office. (2007). Peace support operations: Information and guidance for UK police personnel. Police and Justice Team, Conflict Issues Group, Foreign & Commonwealth Office, London

Goldsmith, A and Dinnen, S. 2007. Transnational Police Building: critical lessons from Timor Leste and Solomon Islands. Third World Quarterly, 28:6, 1091 - 1109

Goldsmith, Andrew (2009) It wasn't like normal policing: voices of Australian police peacekeepers in Operation Serene, Timor-Leste 2006. Policing and Society,19:2,119 — 133

Goldsmith, Andrew (2009)''It wasn't like normal policing': voices of Australian police peacekeepers in Operation Serene, Timor-Leste 2006', Policing and Society, 19:2,119-133

Graydon, C. (2005). Local justice systems in Timor-Leste: Washed up, or watch this space? Development Bulletin, no. 68, pp. 66-70

Groenewald, H. and Peake, G. (2004). Police Reform Through Community-Based Policing: Philosophy and Guidelines for Implementation. International Peace Academy/Saferworld, New York

Groenewald, H. and Peake, G. 2004. Police Reform Through Community-Based Policing: Philosophy and Guidelines for Implementation. International Peace Academy/Saferworld, New York

Haberfeld, MR. Cerrah, I. (Ed). 2008. Comparative policing: The struggle for democratization. Sage publications inc. USA.

Harris, V. and Goldsmith, A. 2009. International police missions as reverse capacity building: experiences of Australian police personnel. Policing, Volume 3, Number 1, pp. 50–58

Hedditch, S. and Manuel, C. (2010). Timor Leste: Gender and Investment Climate Reform Assessment. IFC

Hoadley, S. 2005. Pacific Island Security Management by New Zealand & Australia: Towards a New Paradigm. Centre for Strategic Studies: New Zealand. Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand Working Paper No. 20/05

Hohe, T. and Nixon, R. (2003). Reconciling Justice. 'Traditional' law and State Judiciary in East Timor. United States Institute for Peace

Hohe, T. and Nixon, R. Janaury 2003. Reconciling justice: traditional law and state judiciary in East Timor. United States Institute for Peace.

Hughes, H. and Sodhi, G. 2008. The Bipolar Pacific. The Centre for Independent Studies, Issue Analysis No. 98, 21 August 2008

Hughes, B. 2012. Peace Operations and the Political: A Pacific Reminder of What Really Matters. Journal of International Peacekeeping 16 (2012) 99–118

Independent Comprehensive Needs Assessment. 2009. The justice system of Timor-Leste. Dili, Timor-Leste October 13 2009.

International Committee of the Red Cross. 2009. Under the protection of the palm: Wars of dignity in the Pacific.

International Crisis Group. 2008. Policing in Afghanistan: still searching for a strategy. Asia Briefing no. 85, 18 December 2008 Kabul/Brussels

International Crisis Group. 2009. Bangladesh: Getting police reform on track. Asia Report no. 182, 11 December 2009

Lefèvre, M. (2010) Local Defence in Afghanistan: A Review of Government-backed Initiatives. Afghanistan Analysts Network, Kabul

Nasr, H, Crystal J. and Brown, N. 2004. Criminal Justice and Prosecution in the Arab World. UNDP Programme on governance in the Arab region.

New Zealand – Papua New Guinea Joint Commitment for Development 2011

New Zealand Police. Strategic plan 2011 – 2015

New Zealand Police. Strategic plan to 2010: Policing with confidence, the New Zealand way

Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

Newton, T. 1998. An introduction to policing in the South Pacific Region. Journal of South Pacific Law, Working Paper 4 of volume 2 1998.

North, Douglass C. (June 27, 2011). Violence and Social Orders. The Annual Proceedings of the Wealth and Well-Being of Nations, 2009

O'Neill, W. (2005). Police Reform in Post Conflict Societies: What We Know and What We Still Need to Know

OECD. (2005). Issues Brief: Introduction to security system reform. Development Assistance Committee (DAC). Mainstreaming conflict prevention

OECD. (2009). Security System Reform – what have we learned? Results and trends from the publication and dissemination of the OECD-DAC handbook on Security System Reform

Peake, G. 11 April 2011. Timor Leste: A need for accountability not force.

Pritchett, L., Woolcock, M., Andrews, M. (2010). Capability Traps? The Mechanisms of Persistent Implementation Failure

RAMSI (2007). People's Survey 2006

Rauch, J. and van der Spuy, E. (2006). Recent Experiments in Police Reform in Post Conflict Africa: A review

Saunders, A. 2010. Cook Islands Police Development Programme: Final report of Principal Advisor. New Zealand Police, NZAid, Cook Islands Police. 3 October 2010.

SEESAC, UNDP Stability Pact, Saferworld. 2007. Philosophy and Principles of Community Based Policing (3rd edition). South Eastern and Eastern Europe Clearinghouse for the Control of Small Arms and Light Weapons, Belgrade

Segrave, M and Ratcliffe, J. 2004. Community Policing: a descriptive overview. Australian Institute of Criminology.

Smith, N., Kubul, G., Mooney, J. et al. 2008. Development Partners Strategy for the Bougainville Law and Justice Sector. 2008 – 2011.

Solomon Islands Government, Ministry of Police, National Security and Correctional Services. August 2011. Review of the Police Act 1972: Discussion Paper

The Burnet Institute. 2010. Situational analysis of drug and alcohol issues and responses in the Pacific 2008 – 2009. Australian National Council on Drugs, Research Paper 21.

The Report of the Independent Commission on Policing for Northern Ireland. (1999) A New Beginning: Policing in Northern Ireland. HMSO. UK

UK Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO). 2007. Peace support operations: Information and guidance for UK police personnel', Police and Justice Team, Conflict Issues Group, FCO, London

UNIFEM. (2008) An Empirical Analysis of Cases of Gender-based Violence in Rutsiro, Kayonza, Ngorerero Districts and the City of Kigali. In collaboration with the Department of Applied Statistics of the National University of Rwanda

United Nations Department of Peacekeeping Operations (DPKO) . Handbook on policing in peacekeeping operations.

United Nations Department of Peacekeeping Operations (DPKO), Peacekeeping best practices unit. 2003. Handbook on United Nations multi-dimensional peacekeeping operations.

United Nations Department of Peacekeeping Operations (DPKO). Undated (pre-publication copy). Gender mainstreaming in peacekeeping operations: progress report.

UNMIT. 2011. Timor Leste Communication and Media Survey

UNODC and UN-HABITAT. 2009. Crime Prevention Assessment Tool. Criminal justice assessment toolkit No 5. United Nations, New York

UNODC. 2010. The Globalization of Crime: A Transnational Organised Crime Threat Assessment.

Willman, A and Makisaka, M. 2010. Interpersonal violence prevention: a review of the evidence and emerging lessons. World Development Report background paper. August 2, 2010.

World Bank. 2011. World Development Report

Zwane, P. 1994. The Need for Community Policing. African Defence Review Issue No 18, 1994.

ANNEX E – PROCESSES AND METHODS FOR IMPLEMENTING THE EVALUATION

Processes for implementing the evaluation

The evaluation was undertaken by a multi-disciplinary team comprising two senior police experts (one international expert, one New Zealand expert), a monitoring and evaluation expert, a law and justice expert, and a governance/ capacity development expert.³⁷ The report was peer reviewed by an international expert on fragile and conflict affected states. The assignment began in March 2012 with a Background Study and literature review.³⁸ Consultations were undertaken with MFAT and New Zealand Police in Wellington at the beginning of May 2012, followed by three weeks of fieldwork covering the Cook Islands, Papua New Guinea (including Bougainville), the Solomon Islands, and Tonga. Annex D sets out the data sources used by the evaluation.

The key processes for implementing the evaluation were:

Construction and validation of results tables: As described in chapter 2 and section 3.3 in chapter 3 of the evaluation report, the development of an over-arching programme-level results diagram, and of intervention-level evaluation results diagrams which 'sit' within it provided the core analytical framework for the evaluation. These were supported by the development of a programme-level theory of change, a draft of which was set out in annex A of the Evaluation and Research Plan, and the developed version of which is provided in chapter 2 and annex C of the evaluation report.

The development of the programme-level results diagram and theory of change drew heavily on the background literature review, and was particularly informed by the *framework to develop best fit solutions* described in the Background Study.

Context analysis: Initial country context analyses provided in annex D of the Evaluation and Research Plan were supplemented by information and analysis obtained from stakeholders and additional documents obtained during the evaluation.

Development of structured evaluation findings: Evaluation analysis sheets (EAS) were used to develop findings against each evaluation question, with evidence provided to back up each finding. Findings were initially developed at intervention-level, and then fed into overall programme-level analysis. Early on during the course of the evaluation the EAS format was altered from that initially presented in annex J of the Evaluation and Research Plan, so that it reflected and was aligned with the developing programme-level results diagram and theory of change. This facilitated the development of findings in relation to the broad *policing* context described in chapter 2 of the evaluation report.

Evidence to support findings was collected using the range of data collection tools described in the Evaluation and Research Plan.³⁹ Evidence was assessed as to its strength (strong moderate or weak). Evidence was where possible triangulated. For example: findings about the extent to which

³⁷ The governance/ capacity development expert worked from home base and did not participate in fieldwork

³⁸ The Law & Development Partnership. Evaluation and research of police work funded under the New Zealand aid programme 2005-2011: Background Study. 28 March 2012.

³⁹ i.e. intervention data sheets; key document checklists; semi-structured interviews guides; and field visit observation sheets. These tools were adapted and used in a flexible manner when in the field.

community policing was mainstreamed within a partner country's police force were typically evidenced by: (a) a review of key documents e.g. legislation, police strategic plans, monitoring review reports and assessments of progress; (b) interviews with key stakeholders; and (c) direct observations of police operations - especially at police stations and posts visited.

Methods for implementing the evaluation

The key methods for implementing the evaluation were:

Literature and document review: An extensive literature review was undertaken at the start of the evaluation which covered both academic literature and intervention-level and other background documents provided by MFAT. These were supplemented by additional documents collected during the course of fieldwork, including overarching national planning documents, police strategy, reporting and evaluation documents, and budgets.

Stakeholder consultations: These were undertaken in Wellington, in the field, and from home base (by phone, e-mail and skype) with the stakeholders identified in the Evaluation and Research Plan. The table below provides brief details: unless stated otherwise, the comments refer to each country visited during the field work. Overall, over 100 stakeholders were consulted.

Stakeholder consultation summary

Stakeholder identified in Evaluation and Research Plan	Comment				
Funding/ implementing stakeholders					
MFAT (Wellington)	Consultations with NZ Aid Programme managers and officer and with MFAT policy divisions. Individual interviews and group discussions				
MFAT Post	Initial briefing and final de-briefing with NZ High Commissioners and Aid Programme managers. Individual interviews and group discussions.				
NZ Police (Wellington)	Consultations with ISG and PICP Secretariat staff, together with formerly deployed and short-term deployed officers.				
NZ Police in-country	Individual interviews with long term and short term deployed staff.				
Delivery stakeholders					
Partner country police Individual interviews with staff who had direct experience of NZ deployed staff. Where possible officers at all levels were interviewed from Commissioners to constables.					
Primary stakeholders (key intende	d beneficiaries of the programme)				
Users (May be represented by community groups or other civil society organisations, and will include women's groups	Civil society groups (including women's groups) were interviewed either individually (e.g. in Bougainville, Cook Islands) or as part of a focus group discussion (e.g. Solomon Islands)				
Secondary stakeholders					
Other justice sector institutions	Individual interviews were undertaken with the judiciary (Cook Islands and Bougainville)				
Governance stakeholders	Governance stakeholders				
Partner country politicians / governance institutions (including institutions responsible for human rights and gender issues)	Individual interviews were held mainly at central government level with ministries/bodies responsible for the police (in every country); gender and human rights (Cook Islands, Solomon Islands). In the Solomon Islands and Bougainville individual interviews were also held at local government level.				

Annex E – Processes and Methods for Implementing the Evaluation
Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011
Pacific regional report

Stakeholder identified in Evaluation and Research Plan	Comment		
Police oversight/ standards setting bodies	Police oversight was covered by interviews with ministries responsible for the police.		
Other stakeholders with an interes	st in the programme		
Non-state dispute resolution providers (including traditional and religious leaders)	Individual interviews or focus group discussions were held with traditional / community leaders involved in dispute resolution in Cook Islands, and Bougainville		
Other donors	Individual interviews were held with other donors in the Solomon Islands, and Papua New Guinea		
Academics, analysts, CSOs, opposition politicians, cultural representatives and other professionals	Individual interviews were held with different mixes from this category in each country. For example: in the Cook Islands – the opposition party, cultural representatives and CSOs were interviewed; in the Solomon Islands – interviews were held with analysts (consultants working on other projects) and academics (mainly from Australia National University – interviewed by e-mail)		

Field visit observations: Police stations and posts were visited in each country, focusing on the capital / main town. In the Solomon Islands and Tonga visits were paid outside the capital to stations / posts, local government headquarters, and opportunities taken to interview members of the community.

Ethical issues

As discussed in the Evaluation and Research Plan, evaluation transparency was maintained by reporting back to Post (and in some cases NZ Police) on interim findings at the end of each country visit. Key ethical issues related to: (i) the framing and conduct of interviews and meetings; and (ii) the use and acknowledgement of information provided. These issues were addressed as described in the Plan. Interviews were conducted in a friendly and non-antagonistic way that encouraged informants to present their views and understanding in the way they found most appropriate and comfortable. Interviews and focus groups were organised without the presence of stakeholders who might limit the ability of participants to express their views openly, and groups were usually divided into sub-groups on the basis of gender or status to ensure more open discussion. The team was not made aware of individuals who could be harmed by participating in the evaluation. Stakeholders were informed (orally) at the beginning of interviews and focus group discussions of the purpose and independence of the evaluation, the confidentiality and non-attribution of their inputs, and their ability to update or have their information disregarded at any stage following the interviews. Evaluation data and analytical material is stored in notebooks, and on individual laptops and desktops connected to a web-based (cloud) password protected archive, accessible to team members only. After finalisation and acceptance of the report all non-publically available material gathered during the evaluation will be destroyed.

Quality control

At the start of the assignment the team leader defined in agreement with team members: (1) the scope of task for each team member; (2) what each team member was expected to deliver; and (3) timelines for delivery working to an agreed workplan. Each team member reported directly to the team leader who was responsible for quality control, and provided close management support to

Annex E – Processes and Methods for Implementing the Evaluation Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

team members. The draft report was peer reviewed internally by a director of the Law & Development Partnership and by team member Nigel Roberts.

ANNEX F – FINDINGS IN RESPONSE TO EVALUATION QUESTIONS

Evaluation questions	Key evaluation findings			
EFFECTIVENESS AND SUSTAINABILITY				
2.6 What factors enhanced achievements of the results? 2.7 What factors	Overall, the vast majority of interventions considered by the evaluation in relatively stable, developmental contexts have delivered, or are on track to delivering their intended results in a timely manner. Reform has been much harder to achieve in fragile and conflict affected situations (annexes A and G). However, much of the evidence is anecdotal, as formal outcome-orientated M&E systems were not put in place (section 3.5) Key factors that enhanced or constrained achievement of results are as follows:			
constrained achievement of the results?	In all partner police forces the quality of deployed New Zealand staff is highly regarded and their contribution valued. New Zealand officers appear to have worked sensitively within different cultural settings (section 3.3.2)			
3.2 Are the improvements brought about though NZ funded interventions likely	• New Zealand Police had most impact in mainstreaming a community policing approach in bi-lateral or tri-lateral interventions. In conflict affected situations, it has proved harder to mainstream a sustainable community policing approach, and community policing has been carved out as a <i>niche</i> function (section 3.3.2)			
to be sustained / difficult to reverse?	 New Zealand Police's ability to mainstream community policing has also been constrained when operating under a joint command (e.g. RAMSI) (section 3.3.2) 			
3.3 What factors are constraining sustainability?	• A clear strength is that assistance has been provided by one police service to another, and also that New Zealand has been prepared to engage for the long haul (section 3.3.2)			
	■ While the focus on leadership has borne short-term results, there is a risk of limited sustainability (section 3.3.2).			
	■ There is scope for deeper engagement at the policy level with deep-rooted systemic issues including police recurrent budgets (wage and non-wage) and human resources (section 3.3.2)			
	■ Short-term deployments, imperfect skills matches, a tendency to substitute for local staff (rather than develop skills), and mis-matches between the rank of New Zealand advisers and partner country police counterparts may be constraining benefits. Greater engagement of the partner police force in selection of candidates could help address some of these constraints (section 3.3.2)			
	 All partner police forces have deep-rooted systemic problems of financial and human resources that will require more effective and sustained high-level political engagement to resolve (section 3.3.2). 			
	When results are considered at the programmatic level across the <i>policing</i> context of broader governance and institutional arrangements, findings are that:			

Evaluation questions	Key evaluation findings
	Interventions are generally narrowly focused on <i>police</i> individual skills and organisational development, with limited attention to the broader <i>policing</i> context presented in the programme theory of change (section 2.2)
	• Engagement at the political level with the key issues of police mandate and legitimacy has been challenging. This may be because a technical approach has been taken to what is often a highly political issue, and because of limited ownership of the reform process (see section 3.3.1)
	• Engagement at the political / policy level is particularly important in fragile and conflict affected situations, but it has proved challenging to identify entry points particularly when operating in complex political environments (e.g. Bougainville) and /or when operating under joint command (e.g. RAMSI) (section 3.3.1)
	 Engagement with non-state dispute resolution providers through the CAP in Bougainville has enhanced the visible face of the state at community level, and their role is appreciated by communities, but to be sustainable they need to be embedded within government systems (sections 3.3.2 and 3.3.5)
2.4 Has the programme	At the intervention level:
had any unintended consequences? If so, have these been mitigated, if negative, or embraced if positive? In relation to any	Deployments of police from across the region (primarily RAMSI, but also in Bougainville where the New Zealand Deployment includes a ni-Vanuatu officer) have provided opportunities for mutually beneficial interaction between police from New Zealand Police and other Pacific island states (section 3.3.2). Recommendations for an integrated regional programme in chapter 8 may provide opportunities to capitalise on these interactions through a more joined up approach to supporting police work in the Pacific.
unintended consequences, how could the programme have better have mitigated (if negative) or	• Although difficult to attribute directly to New Zealand supported interventions, it is noted that in Tonga female police officers are a reforming influence within the police (see table 4.1 and annex A(4)). The proposed integrated regional programmed discussed in chapter 8 may provide opportunities to make linkages between supporting women officers (through PICP's Women's Advisory Network and to some extent through PPDVP) and reform efforts at the country level.
embraced (if positive)?	 The tendency to substitute for local staff (rather than develop skills) may undermine local capacity (section 3.3.2). Improved training in mentoring for New Zealand Police advisers before deployment could address this issue.
	• A tendency to 'carve out' a community policing <i>niche</i> has militated against engagement at the strategic / policy level – necessary to ensure mainstreaming and sustainability (section 3.3.2).
	At the programme level:
	• The technically-led approach which focused on <i>police</i> individual skills and organisational development, with limited attention to the broader <i>policing</i> context presented in the programme theory of change is not sufficient to deliver the goal of <i>safe and secure</i>

Evaluation questions	Key evaluation findings			
	communities (section 2.2 and chapter 2).			
	An approach to intervention design which has meant that interventions tend to be driven by outputs rather than by a clearly articulated goal, risks a supply-driven and overly simplified approach that is not sustainable (section 2.2 and chapter 2).			
	A generic goal statement which does not where appropriate focus on the causes and effects of fragility (section 2.2), and limited context analysis may lead to a non-diagnosis of the key problems that need to be addressed in particular contexts to deliver <i>safe and secure communities</i> (e.g. inter-communal conflict, small arms reduction), and thus to develop relevant community policing models to address these issues (see chapter 2).			
	In fragile and conflict-affected situations delays in moving from operational policing to capacity development (and from an aid-dependency to focusing on sustainability) fails to build the legitimacy of the state, and may even undermine it (section 4.4).			
	ommendations to address these issues are made in chapter 8.			
2.5 To what extent did the programme provide leverage for, or leverage from improvements in the law and justice system as a whole?	Training on improved investigation and prosecution skills has strengthened the role of the police in the criminal justice system. Most interventions were not designed to make broader linkages across the criminal justice as a whole, but where they were (e.g. Cook Islands reform of criminal procedures) progress has tended to slow (section 3.3.4).			
3.1 To what extent was there local ownership of	■ Interventions have generally been 'demand-led' in that they arose from specific requests (section 1.4 in chapter 1).			
the reform process?	In the Cook Islands and Tonga support is being provided to support the implementation of the partner countries' police strategic plan (section 4.3.1 and annexes A(2) and A(4)).			
	But the need for strong engagement at the political level, context analysis to understand the drivers of change, and the limitations of a technically-led approach can be seen in Tonga where the police reform process is threatened by challenges from conservative elements within the Force (table 3.1 and annex A(4)).			

Evaluation questions	Key evaluation findings
5.1 To what extent has the programme addressed	(All findings from section 6.2.8)
gender and human rights through targeted interventions?	 Gender and human rights have been mainstreamed within interventions by (a) supporting national processes; (b) mainstreaming gender and human rights within key organisational processes; and (c) using national resources (e.g. for training) where appropriate. These approached are likely to ensure sustainability within partner countries.
5.2 What human rights and gender outcomes have been achieved?	 New Zealand police advisers have demonstrated human rights and gender sensitivity in their general approach to interventions in partner countries.
5.3 To what extent are gender and human rights outcomes likely to be sustained? 5.4 To what extent has the programme mainstreamed gender and human rights?	■ Targeted interventions in relation to gender undertaken through PPDVP and PICP's Women's Advisory Network have been appreciated. PPDV is delivering results (see annex A(6)) but reporting tends to focus on process (e.g.) setting up on domestic violence units, rather than on improved domestic violence outcomes.
RELEVANCE 1.1 How coherent was the programme?	 New Zealand's programme of aid-funded police work has grown organically, as MFAT responded flexibly to events in the Pacific region and internationally, and to requests for assistance (section 1.4 in chapter 1). The flexible and responsive growth of the work has meant
1.2 New Zealand's	that interventions have developed in advance of an explicit conceptual framework (chapter 2). (Findings from chapter 4)
strategic and development interests (including regional security and trans-boundary issues):	 New Zealand's Police work in the pacific is overall well-aligned and relevant to New Zealand's developmental, foreign policy and security objectives; although deployments to small pacific island states without specific security issues may become harder to justify if resources for domestic policing become more constrained.
To what extent was the programme aligned with them?	 Police work has had strong focus on community based-approaches. Such interventions are not designed to have a direct-impact on trans- border crime or regional security.
2.1 To what extent did the programme deliver on supporting them?	 General police organisational development and targeted support has the potential to enable New Zealand to address regional and trans- border crime issues including through the Pacific Transnational Crime Coordinating Centre.
1.3 (a) Partner countries'	Regional security issues may not be high on the agenda of Pacific island countries that do not perceive themselves to be at risk: domestic

Evaluation questions	Key evaluation findings		
strategic interests and needs including regional security and transboundary issues: To what extent was the programme aligned with them? 2.2 To what extent did the programme deliver on supporting them?	policing may be perceived to be more of a priority (section 4.2).		
1.3 (b) To what extent was the programme aligned	(Findings from section 4.3.1)		
with partner countries' development, and law and justice sector interests and needs?	In some cases New Zealand support has become locally owned through explicit support to national police development strategies, and is well aligned to national security priorities in fragile and conflict affected states. However in developmental states (eg the Cook Islands), although support has been 'demand-led at the technical level, it is less clear whether this support aligns with national priorities at the highest level		
1.4 To what extent were approaches adopted by the programme aligned with good development practice?	■ Within the boundaries of its engagement — primarily around technical capacity building - New Zealand support has been relevant to context, and has responded to the needs of particular situations including for community policing interventions. But there is scope for deeper and more considered context analysis (including political economy analysis) during programme design and implementation to enable holistic engagement with the political and strategic context for policing necessary for a sustainable community policing approach.		
6.6 What does sustainability mean for policing in small Pacific island states?	Support has been relevant to the needs of small Pacific states to some extent, in that technical policing weaknesses have been directly addressed. However the approach taken can encourage substitution and not be sustainable, unless an open-ended commitment is made to provide key personnel. There is scope and opportunity to engage in more fundamental police organisational and resourcing issues that would lay the foundations for sustainability (section 5.2.1)		
1.5 How and in what circumstances did peace-	(Findings from section 4.4)		
keeping work transition to a development approach (including capacity development)?	New Zealand has made relevant contributions under RAMSI and through PPF to the critical transition from a peacekeeping to a developmental approach in the Solomon Islands. However, New Zealand has not taken full opportunity of its potential entry points to shape and focus the transition (including the mainstreaming of a community policing approach in RSIPF) particularly at the strategic and political levels.		
	■ In fragile and conflict-affected situations delays in moving from operational policing to capacity development (and from an aid-		

Evaluation questions	Key evaluation findings		
	dependency to focusing on sustainability) fails to build the legitimacy of the state, and may even undermine it.		
1.6 What were the advantages and disadvantages of a regional approach?	 Regional police interventions have shown relevance to cross-cutting needs especially of women and police-community dialogue, and created opportunities for lesson sharing, networking and peer accountability (section 4.5) 		
EFFICIENCY			
4.1.2 To what extent has the programme been appropriately resourced with the right technical and development competences to achieve development results?	■ The programme has generally been properly resourced to reflect specific intervention designs. This evaluation of the programme suggest that these designs were more narrowly conceptualised as police capacity development exercises, and so the broader institutional and governance issues associated with policing have not been included in the intervention designs or resources (section 5.2.1)		
4.1.2 To what extent were the arrangements and	(Findings from section 5.2.2)		
relationships between NZ Police HQ, MFAT Wellington, MFAT Posts, other sector actors and implementing sites efficient and provided value for money?	 The relationship between NZ Police and MFAT is moving from one which is currently highly transactional, to a strategic partnership approach which should exploit the complementary skills and approaches of both organisations MFAT decentralisation from Wellington to post has facilitated stronger MFAT engagement in interventions There are opportunities for stronger engagement between MFAT / NZ Police and AusAid and AFP on security and justice issues in the Pacific 		
4.2 To what extent could the programme have achieved the same level of actual outcomes at less financial cost and with fewer staffing resources from MFAT and NZ Police	 (Findings from section 5.4) There is limited scope to improve value for money through cost savings. The main source of value for money gains is by allocating more resources to the wider context of policing, which would require deeper analytical working and additional skills, potentially from outside New Zealand Police. 		

Annex G – Intervention Level Results Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

ANNEX G – INTERVENTION LEVEL RESULTS

The table on the following page provides a summary of intended results and actual achievements at the intervention level, highlighted using green, amber, and red shading. Green indicates achievement of intended results within the envisaged time-frame. Amber indicates (i) in the case of on-going interventions, those that have made progress towards achievement of intended results within the envisaged time-frame, or (ii) in the case of past interventions, those that have partially achieved their intended results. Red indicates failure to achieve intended results or that an intervention is off track to achieve them. Where there was insufficient evidence for the evaluation team to make an assessment, the relevant row in the matrix has been left un-shaded.

Summary of intervention level results

Intervention	Summary intended results	Intended final delivery date	Key evidence
Bougainville Community Policing Project (BCPP) Phase 4	Effective policing services provided across all of Bougainville by BPS and CAPs CAP provide effective community police CAP are effectively managed by BPS Active application of community policing philosophy by BPS regulars	2010	CAP appear to be providing an effective service at village level, but their effectiveness is constrained by low BPS capacity Mid Term Review BCPP July 2006 Review of Bougainville Community Police Project 14 December 2009 2009 crime survey (reported in draft report of Police Restructure Project. 9 July 2010) Draft BPS Community Policing Strategy 2011-15 Interview evidence and observations gathered during evaluation fieldwork
Cook Islands Police Programme 2008-	Effective and capable police force Efficient and effective administration of justice Improved management, professionalism and skills in CIPS Increased scope of activities Effective engagement between CIPS and communities Mandate for CIPS improved	2012	Anecdotal evidence for improved CIPS performance. Empirical evidence eg perception surveys not available Interim Report: Progress Against Revised Robinson Review Recommendations. Julia Jones, Performance Group, PNHQ. March 2011 Interviews evidence and observations gathered during evaluation fieldwork
Regional Assistance Mission to the Solomon Islands (RAMSI)	Civil order, rule of law and safe communities Royal Solomon Islands Police Forces is capable, effective, self reliant and self-sustaining Community has confidence and trust in RSIPF Political mandate for RSIPF secured RSIPF is a capable, efficient, self-reliant and self-sustaining police force with	2012	Law and order re-established, but limited progress made on developing RSIPF capacity Draft Independent Review 2009 RAMSI Annual Performance Report 2010 People's Survey

Intervention	Summary intended results	Intended final delivery date	Key evidence
	new services and approaches in use (including collaborative crime prevention, community safety and security initiatives)		Interviews evidence and observations gathered during evaluation fieldwork
Tonga Police Development Programme	Tonga Police Force is a capable and effective community-focused organisation Role and governance of Tonga Police clarified Tonga Police Force is effectively led and managed Quality of Police operations improved	2012	 Police Act 2010 Code of conduct 2010 TPDP Joint Assessment Review Final report (2011) Tonga Police Strategic Plan (2009 - 2013) 4-year Business plan (2009-2013) Tonga Police M&E framework TPDP Monthly status reports Tonga Police Training School Business Plan (2010-2011) Interviews evidence and observations gathered during evaluation fieldwork
Pacific Islands Chiefs of Police	More capable police forces across the Pacific region Sense of regional identity around common issues developed Greater participation of women in police forces	On-going	 Limited evidence. Attribution is difficult 2011 MFAT stocktake Interviews evidence and observations gathered during evaluation fieldwork
Pacific Prevention of Domestic Violence Programme	Domestic violence reduced throughout the Pacific Legislation enforced Increased Pacific police capability to prevent/ respond effectively to domestic violence Increased awareness of domestic violence amongst the elite Increased public / NGO and community awareness about domestic violence Increased awareness of domestic violence, commitment to addressing domestic violence, with more capability to respond effectively to domestic violence by key Pacific police officers	On-going	Limited evidence – few statistics available. Attribution is difficult Turnbull.B 2011 Independent Evaluation Report Pacific Prevention of Domestic Violence Programme Country base line and follow up reports Interviews evidence and observations gathered during evaluation fieldwork
Partnership for Pacific	More professional police forces in the Pacific	On-going	Too early to assess

Annex G – Intervention Level Results

Intervention	Summary intended results	Intended final delivery date	Key evidence
Policing			
	Increased public confidence in the police		
	Structured framework for police including SOPs and local orders in place		
	Police forces capable of delivering community policing through intelligence		
	led approaches		
	Police forces capable of responding effectively		

ANNEX H – PROGRAMME LEVEL RESULTS MEASURMENT TABLE

This results measurement table (RMT) relates to the programme-level results diagram (RD) for MFAT funded police work set out in Figure 2.2 in chapter 2 of the main evaluation report. The programme-level RD is structured around a generic country, taking an holistic, police-centric, approach to reform. The programme-level RD sets out five key outcome areas, each reflecting a critical dimension of policing reform. MFAT police work will not necessarily directly address all five outcome areas in each intervention country, but must be designed and implemented with a clear understanding of, and be linked to, necessary reforms in all five dimensions. This will require detailed context analysis, political economy analysis and donor coordination at the country level during the design phase.

This RMT follows the same structure as the RD, and should provide the basis for developing a country specific RMT for a given police work intervention. It contains all five dimensions of holistic policing reform, which will need to be modified to reflect the actual intervention design in a specific country. The RMT includes all levels of outcome, matching those in the RD, but does not include outputs as these will be intervention specific.

The RMT format does not provide for indicators at the goal level. The goal relates to the results in terms of the end user/beneficiary of the intervention. This is the highest and most integrative level in the RD and the goal should therefore provide the driver to programme design. Examples of potential goal level indicators are provided at the foot of the RMT below. These primarily relate to indicators of crimes against the individual, although suggestions are also made relating to intercommunal violence and more generally to the enforcement (policing) of collective choices.

The design of country interventions should be context-specific and must reflect local needs, including the selection of indicators. The OECD DAC Handbook on Security Sector Reform (2011) advises strongly against imposition of standardised indicators that will lack local ownership and bias programming decisions. The New Deal for Fragile and Conflict Affected States promotes a new country-led mechanism whereby interventions in fragile and conflict affected states are designed, monitored and evaluated according to country-led and owned *fragility assessments*. The process is intended to facilitate the development of indicators that are owned by partner countries and are in line with their priorities.

Hence this RMT does not specify indicators, but rather sets out areas in which indicators could be considered and developed for specific countries, working with local stakeholders, during country intervention design. Note that all indicators should be gender disaggregated where gender differences may be relevant.

Results	Indicators	Baseline Information and Targets	Methodology and Data Sources
Long-term outcomes		•	
Governance arrangements for policing in place - including inclusive and representative political voice and oversight together with a legal mandate	 ⇒ Voice: Institutions (political) in place for citizens, through their representatives, to undertake and be responsible for the governance of policing. This includes mechanisms to: set policy; decide priorities; define standards; and allocate resources ⇒ Oversight: Citizen satisfaction with political and legal oversight of policing ⇒ Functional separation: Adequate insulation of police from partisan political influence to maintain neutrality and protect all citizens ⇒ Legitimacy: Public acceptance of the police as the main legitimate source of internal security ⇒ Complaint handling: Presence and strength of external oversight mechanisms that ensure accountability including to receive, investigate and resolve complaints against police 		Review of democratic structures National citizen surveys Independent evaluation studies International surveys of governance quality
	⇒ Rights: International scores/rankings for human rights and gender equality		Reports of human rights organisations
A capable and effective, community-focused, national police service is established	 ⇒ Corruption: Degree of police corruption and public perceptions of police honesty ⇒ Use of force: Legitimate use of force by police is proportionate; the minimum necessary to effect the purpose ⇒ Approach: Community-focused policing accepted as core operating principle of the police ⇒ Priorities: Police tackle 'signal crimes'; those that have a disproportionate effect on the sense of security in vulnerable communities ⇒ Vision and standards: Clearly defined and understood mission, code of conduct, operational procedures, 		National citizen surveys Reports of independent police oversight authority/ parliamentary commission/ national audit office/ Ombudsman or similar agencies
	 Management: Existence of goals and performance measures that regulate current and future professional conduct, chain of command Funding: Long term budget planning that secures sufficient funding for the development and maintenance of the police service Transparency: A transparent, open relationship with the media Human Resources: Staffing: Adequate personnel, with demonstrated commitment to gender 		Independent evaluation studies Police internal inspection/audit reports Police reports

Structures facilitating two-way communication between citizens and police are in place and functioning effectively	equity, training and equipment to be effective - Gender equality: A plan to recruit, retain and position female staff in leadership role - Payment: Sufficiency of salaries and other benefits to encourage high retention and discourage corruption - Promotion: Transparent and merit-based recruitment and promotion systems and level of retention rates - Skills: Existence of local capacity to train officers and to purchase and maintain necessary police equipment in to the future ⇒ Structures/mechanisms: Arrangements in place for police-community dialogue ⇒ Co-production of police services: Police support community efforts of citizens to police themselves within the rule of law ⇒ Relationship quality: Police have good relations with communities	Reports of NGOs representing communities in relations with police Police reports National citizen surveys Independent evaluation studies Reports of human rights
Police are fully embedded in and contributing to the functioning of the criminal justice system (CJS)	 ⇒ Participation in CJS: Police participating in cross-sector arrangements on policy-making, planning, budgeting and operational issues ⇒ Quality of participation: Satisfaction expressed by other justice sector agencies on performance of police in relation to their agencies 	organisations Reports of other justice system agencies Police reports
Complementary and synergetic linkages between police and non-state dispute resolution systems are in place	⇒ Mechanisms: Police are participating in regular dialogue and cooperation with non-state systems where it is appropriate, legal and consistent with human rights obligations to do so	Independent evaluation studies Police reports Independent evaluation studies Reports of human rights

		organisations
		Evident of independent arbiter
Medium-term outcomes		
Governance structures, at national and/or local government level, representing the broad spectrum of communities and stakeholders, women and men, are piloted	 ⇒ Rate of progress against plan for implementing enhanced governance structures ⇒ Satisfaction of stakeholders in pilot areas 	Progress reports Stakeholder surveys
Police management systems for approaches, standards, HR, planning and budgeting under development and testing	⇒ Rate of progress against a joint national security or policing policy / strategy / action plan	Progress reports
Institutional arrangements and systems for communication between citizens and police are developed, piloted and rolled out across the country	 ⇒ Systems are in place for police to listen to community concerns or problems, jointly prioritise responses and keep people informed ⇒ # communication structures eg police community committees ⇒ # partnerships with community groups ⇒ # police trained in community policing 	Police reports
Police approaches, priorities and operations adjusted to maximise overall performance of criminal justice system	 ⇒ Needs of other criminal justice system agencies explicitly identified in police strategy/ operational plans ⇒ Youth justice diversion processes are in place and focus on identifying the underlying symptoms that are the cause of offending 	Police reports
Police programmes, priorities and operations adjusted to maximise the overall functioning of state and nonstate systems	⇒ Needs of non-state systems explicitly identified in police strategy/ operational plans, including assessment of legality of non-state systems and their consistency with human rights obligations	Police reports
Short-term outcomes	<u> </u>	

Annex H – Programme Level Results Measurement Table
Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011
Pacific regional report

Governance arrangements for policy and standards development and oversight are developed	 ⇒ Strategic plan in place for institutional arrangements to allow citizens, their representatives and other interest groups (NGOs) to deliberate and determine their approach to policing and how collective choices and human rights will be enforced ⇒ Policies / legislation drafted and implementation plan developed and officially endorsed 	Policy/legislation documents and implementation plan
Programme to develop the capacity of the police restructuring, HR and staffing, systems, approaches, standards and ethics, etc prepared	 ⇒ Comprehensive, time bound, costed and resourced programme document(s) officially endorsed ⇒ Policies, procedures and practice supported by clearly articulated communications that ensure open dialogue, especially when changes are made ⇒ Executive decision-making is supported by effective record keeping 	Programme documents
Mechanisms and structures for community engagement developed (e.g. Community Police Councils, etc)	 ⇒ Policy/plan officially endorsed setting out mechanisms and structures for police-community interaction ⇒ Village and officially sanctioned community organisations support and endorse the policing strategy, direction and operational activity 	Policy/plan documents Survey of elected local officials
Role of policing and its interface with the criminal justice system is understood and defined	 ⇒ Analysis undertaken and presented to senior police management ⇒ Sector partners (Courts, the judiciary, corrections, restorative justice, customary practitioners in community based village justice and community agencies including NGOS) commit to agreed approach 	Reports of analysis Evidence of effective engagement and an agreed approach
The nature and scope of non- state criminal dispute resolution system is analysed and understood and opportunities for police engagement identified	⇒ Police have mapped out and identified key relevant non-state security and justice systems	Reports of analysis

Annex H – Programme Level Results Measurement Table Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011 Pacific regional report

EXAMPLES OF POTENTIAL INDICATORS AT GOAL LEVEL

The indicators below are 'technocratic' indicators that presume the law behind the rule of law is valid and recognised as legitimate. They relate to areas addressed by legally mandated, legitimately accepted and community focused policing.

Crime statistics related to individuals (disaggregated: men/women/boys/girls and location)

Perception of safety

- ⇒ % people feeling safe going out at night
- ⇒ % people fearing of crime
- ⇒ # citizens satisfied with police response / complaints system
- ⇒ % citizens who believe bribes are necessary to access police services

Level of reported crime

- ⇒ # the actual level of victimisation (often inversely related to the level of fear) through victimisation surveys
- \Rightarrow # incidents of reported violence
- ⇒ # violent deaths reported by hospitals / morgues
- \Rightarrow # incidence of GBV
- ⇒ # incidence of domestic violence

If the goal of the programme was more widely defined, goal level indicators might include:

State-community relationships

- ⇒ # Incidents of inter-communal violence
- ⇒ Volume of investment in extractive industries with local transparent and enforceable community agreements including community and public benefit-sharing arrangements

Annex H – Programme Level Results Measurement Table
Strategic evaluation of police work funded under the New Zealand Aid Programme 2005-2011
Pacific regional report

State-society relations

⇒ Alignment of policing with (democratic) polities and identity-based societies that make collective choices through promulgating rules, assigning rights, deciding polices and priorities and reaching decisions based on informed and deliberative processes which bring together and include all interests

ANNEX I - GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS

3P	Partnership for Pacific Policing
ABG	Autonomous Bougainville Government
AFP	Australian Federal Police
AIPM	Australian Institute of Project Mangers
AusAid	Australian Agency for International Development
ВСРР	Bougainville Community Policing Project
BPS	Bougainville Police Service
CAP	Community Auxiliary Police
CI	Cook Islands
CINPD	Cook Islands National Police Department
CIPS	Cook Islands Police Service
CJS	Criminal Justice System
CSO	Civil Society Organisation
DAC	Development Assistance Committee
EAS	Evaluation analysis sheet
FCAS	Fragile and conflict affected state
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GoPNG	Government of Papua New Guinea
IDG	International Development Group (MFAT)
ISG	New Zealand Police's International Service Group
M&E	Monitoring and Evaluation
MDG	Millennium Development Goals
MFAT	Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade
MoU	Memorandum of understanding
NGO	Non-governmental organisation
NZ	New Zealand
NZP	New Zealand Police
ODA	Official Development Assistance
OECD	The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PIC	Pacific Island Country
PICP	Pacific Island Chiefs of Police
PNG	Papua New Guinea
PPDVP	Pacific Prevention of Domestic Violence Programme
PPF	Participating Police Force
PTCCC	Pacific Transnational Crime Coordinating Centre
RAMSI	Regional Assistance Mission to Solomon Islands
RD	Results Diagram
RMT	Results Measurement Table
RSIPF	The Royal Solomon Islands Police Force
SOP	Standard Operating Procedure
TPDP	Tonga Police Development Programme
UK	United Kingdom
UN	United Nations
WAN	Women's Advisory Network